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our Values 
wannon water recognises the values set out in the  
Public Administration Act 2004 and has adopted the following  
values that best typify the organisation’s objectives.

respect  
we care for the well being, safety and development of our staff. 

InnoVatIon      
we encourage continuous improvement by fostering creativity, 
experimentation and intellectual openness.

IntegrIty      
we will be ethical and accountable for our actions.

equIty      
we will be socially responsible in providing access to water services 
and will have compassion for customers experiencing financial hardship.

sustaInabIlIty      
we will strive to deliver outcomes that acount for social, 
environmental and financial sustainability.

customer satIsfactIon      
we will strive for customer satisfaction and will consult with the 
community on relevant issues.

fInancIal VIabIlIty     
we will be a financially responsible, viable business. 

our strategic objectives 
 
enhancing our environmental performance

Improving our service delivery

ensuring our business performance is sustainable

engaging with our community

building our organisational culture

our mission
wannon water provides water  
and sewerage services that  
contribute to the sustainable  
growth, health and well being  
of the community and environment  
in the south-west of  Victoria.   
 

© state of Victoria, wannon water, 2007.
this publication is copyright. no part may 
be reproduced by any process except in 
accordance with the provision of the 
Copyright Act 1968.
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the continuation of drought conditions 
in 2006/07 presented challenges for 
Wannon Water’s customers and for the 
organisation itself. A significant decline in 
water yield from catchments resulted in 
stage four water restrictions being 
introduced in Balmoral and 
Glenthompson on 15 october 2006  
and in Hamilton, cavendish, Dunkeld  
and tarrington on 5 December 2006. 
stage one restrictions were in place for 
coleraine from 16 December 2006 to  
10 June 2007. With water resources at 
record lows, water restrictions were 
necessary to reduce water consumption 
and to secure supplies for essential 
needs. It was encouraging to see these 
communities’ acceptance of the 
restrictions and their efforts in 
conserving water. these efforts resulted 
in a 30.4 per cent reduction in water 
consumption for communities on water 
restrictions and a 6.4 per cent reduction 
in water consumption for Wannon 
Water’s entire region for the year.

As part of its drought response, Wannon 
Water commissioned two new drought 
relief bores to augment water supplies 
for the Hamilton system. Wannon Water 
also worked diligently to keep customers 
and communities informed of water 
restrictions, water conservation 
measures and other drought-related 
issues throughout the year, and led by 
example by operating its supply systems 
as efficiently as possible. 

Given the impact of the drought on 
water supplies, it was particularly 
pleasing the 2007 customer satisfaction 
survey returned an excellent rating of  
94 per cent of customers who were 
satisfied or extremely satisfied with 
Wannon Water services, with notably 
high results for the overall management 
of the water supply and in keeping 
customers informed about issues.

Wannon Water delivered a profit of  
$1.2 million for the year. this is a 
significant result given that drought 
conditions caused a reduction in revenue 
in parts of the business, and increases in 
operating costs.

Wannon Water has also continued  
to invest in water and sewerage 
programs across south-west Victoria.  
the Dartmoor water supply scheme was 
completed in February and planning is 
well underway for upgrading the quality 
of water supplied to Macarthur and 
coleraine. the Peterborough sewerage 
system is nearing completion and a 
concept design for the West Portland 
sewerage scheme was subject to 
community consultation. In all, Wannon 
Water invested $17.5 million in capital 
works in 2006/07 and is set to invest a 
further $34.5 million in 2007/08.

Report from the 
chairman and 
Managing Director
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Wannon Water also continued to make 
significant progress in implementing key 
actions in the state Government’s  
Our Water Our Future initiative with the 
launch of the Water supply Demand 
strategy. this strategy is a 50-year plan 
which identifies demand management 
initiatives, assesses the likely impact of 
climate change and assesses potential 
new sources of water, such as the  
$30 million project to augment 
Hamilton’s water supply by 2,000 
megalitres. It is a blueprint for meeting 
the water needs of south-west Victorian 
communities into the future and its 
delivery is a major achievement in  
long-term planning for the organisation.

With continuing drought conditions, 
water reforms and key projects planned 
for south-west Victoria, there has never 
been more community interest in water 
nor a more challenging and exciting time 
for the industry and we look forward to 
another year of achievement in 2007/08.

Harry Peeters 
Chairman

Grant Green 
Managing Director

Managing Director Grant Green (left) and chairman Harry Peeters (right)
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Governance Economic Sustainability Social Sustainability Environmental  Sustainability
Wannon Water aims to establish consistent,  
good corporate governance with structures  
and processes relating to decision making, 
accountability, controls and behaviour within  
the organisation that enhance its effectiveness  
in fulfilling its mandate.

Wannon Water will ensure its business 
performance is sustainable. 

Wannon Water will improve its service delivery. Wannon Water will engage with its community. Wannon Water will build its 
organisational culture.

Wannon Water will enhance its environmental 
performance.

the Board adopted a Directors’ code  
of conduct.

the Board conducted a review of the risk 
management policy framework.

the Board responded to the Water (Governance) 
Act 2006.
  

Wannon Water developed its corporate 
Plan and draft Water Plan. 

Wannon Water adopted a treasury 
Management policy. 

Results of an internal audit on 
compliance with the Financial 
Management Act 1994. 

the customer satisfaction survey found that  
94 per cent of customers were satisfied or 
extremely satisfied with the quality of water and 
wastewater services provided by Wannon Water.

Wannon Water officially opened the Dartmoor 
township’s reticulated water supply, marking the 
end of a 10-year capital works project.

Wannon Water undertook a community 
education and marketing campaign to encourage 
water savings, reducing consumption by  
6.4 per cent.

Wannon Water developed and launched a water 
education resource kit for schools, which was 
sent to 83 schools and 10 libraries.

community consultation for Port Fairy  
(water quality), Macarthur (water quality),  
and West Portland (sewerage).

Wannon Water implemented a training 
and development program for 
employees to build on organisational 
capability.

Wannon Water invested significant 
resources in occupational health and 
safety training for employees in 2006/07, 
which has greatly supported our 
workforce.

Wannon Water launched its 50-year Water supply 
Demand strategy, which includes plans for  
a $30 million project to augment Hamilton’s water 
supply by 2,000 megalitres.

Wannon Water facilitated an innovative scheme to 
recycle condensate water from Fonterra to irrigate 
the Warrnambool Golf club, reducing demand on 
treated water and benefiting the environment.

Actions Results Actions Results Actions Results Actions Results Actions Results Actions Results
establish a risk management 
framework

Achieved Implement a treasury 
Management Policy

Achieved Maintain HAccP risk 
assessment program to 
ensure compliance with 
Drinking Water Regulations

Achieved engage with local 
communities on 
evaluation of key projects

Achieved Provide an organisational 
structure that facilitates 
teamwork and innovation

Achieved Develop a Water supply Demand 
strategy for long-term planning  
and management of resources in 
south-west Victoria

Achieved

Maintain the Board Governance 
Framework

Achieved Develop a draft Water 
Plan for review by the 
essential services 
commission

Achieved Introduce quarterly billing for 
residential and small business 
customers

Achieved consult customer 
engagement committee 
on policy development

Achieved Implement family friendly 
work practices through 
the enterprise Bargaining 
Agreement

Achieved Invest in the upgrade of Water 
Reclamation Plants and sewerage 
systems to meet regulatory licence 
conditions

Achieved

Robust Internal Audit program Achieved Manage capital works 
program on time and  
in budget

Partially 
achieved

Implement continuous 
improvement programs  
to enhance service delivery

Achieved Monitor customer 
satisfaction levels

Achieved 94 per 
cent satisfaction in 
2006/07

Facilitate proactive 
training and skills 
development for 
employees

Achieved Implement the Permanent Water 
savings Plan to promote efficient 
water use and reduce wastage within 
our communities

Achieved

Implement the Water (Governance) 
Act

Achieved Implement the Integrated 
Management system

ongoing consolidate the former 
merged authorities’ 
customer charters into a 
single Wannon Water 
customer charter

Achieved conduct community 
education programs 
water conservation  
and management of the 
water cycle

Achieved Implement an 
organisational 
Development strategy

Achieved complete the Peterborough sewerage 
scheme to remove discharge of septic 
effluent from to the curdies River 
estuary

Under 
construction

Develop a full suite of Board 
policies

Achieved Implement continuous 
improvements to identify 
and deliver business 
efficiencies

Achieved establish a customer call 
centre to respond to 
enquiries in a timely and 
consistent manner

Delayed establish project specific 
consultation programs 
with local communities

Achieved Develop shared 
workplace values  
and ethics 

Achieved Investigate opportunities in our water 
systems for power production by 
installation of mini-hydro power plants

Achieved

survey our customers 
regarding satisfaction with 
service delivery

Achieved 94 per 
cent satisfaction 
in 2006/07

engage community in 
development of the Water 
supply Demand strategy

Achieved ensure robust internal 
communications systems 
are established and 
operate efficiently

Achieved Implement a program to process 
biosolids for reuse as soil conditioner 
for agriculture

Achieved

Invest in new systems and 
technology to provide a step 
change in service delivery

Achieved consult community in 
developing the 2008 draft 
Water Plan

Achieved Develop a Drought Response Plan and 
uniform water restrictions regime

Achieved

Promote opportunities for further 
reuse of reclaimed water

Achieved

Develop a trade Waste strategy  
to minimise waste at the source

Achieved

Undertake a review of Wannon Water’s mission, 
vision and values.

combine Risk Management and Audit 
committees to improve risk-based governance.

Adapt to Board changes associated with 
conversion of chief executive to the Board  
as Managing Director.

continue implementation of the 
Integrated Management system.

Manage capital and operational 
expenditure associated with climate 
change.

Implement the largest project in Wannon 
Water’s history, the Grampians Hamilton 
Inter-connector Pipeline.

establishing a customer call centre has been 
postponed due to a delay in a telephone system 
upgrade.

consistently meet the key performance 
indicators established by the essential  
services commission.

complete the Balmoral and coleraine water 
quality upgrades to satisfy the undertakings 
issued by the Department of Human services.

engage and consult in relation to the 2008-2013 
Water Plan.

Implement the Water supply Demand strategy, 
particularly:
•  the Hamilton-Grampians Inter-connector 

pipeline, and
•  programs to reduce per capita water 

consumption.

Retain key employees where there  
is a current shortage.

Progress the West Portland sewerage scheme.

complete the Peterborough sewerage scheme.

More on page 7 More on page 11 More on page 15 More on page 22 More on page 28 More on page 31
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Governance Economic Sustainability Social Sustainability Environmental  Sustainability
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Profile
the Wannon Region Water Authority, 
trading as Wannon Water, was constituted 
by Governor-in-council order under 
section 98 (1) (b) of the Water Act 1989, 
effective from 1 July 2005. During the 
reporting period, Wannon Water was 
responsible to the Minister for Water, 
environment and climate change,  
the Honourable John thwaites, MP.

Wannon Water provides essential  
water and sewerage services that 
contribute to the sustainable growth, 
health and wellbeing of the community 
and environment in the south-west of 
Victoria. services are provided to 
approximately 70,000 people across  
34 customer zones, including residential, 
rural, commercial and industrial 
customers. our service area extends 
over 24,500 square kilometres from  
the south Australian border in the  
west, to Balmoral in the north, Lismore 
in the east and Port campbell on the 
south coast.

Functions, powers 
and duties
Wannon Water’s statutory functions, 
powers and duties are set out in the 
Water Act 1989 and relevant By-Laws, and 
include the collection, storage, treatment 
and delivery of water; the collection and 
treatment of sewage and trade waste; 
and water recycling. Wannon Water’s 
objectives are detailed further on pages 
4 and 5 of this report.

Asset management
Wannon Water’s major assets include  
11 reservoirs, 22 water treatment 
facilities (including nine full water 
treatment plants and 13 disinfection 
plants) and 17 water reclamation plants. 
our asset management program is 
integral to meeting the service levels set 
in our customer charters and to achieve 
compliance with the 2005 safe Drinking 
Water Regulations and the environment 
Protection Authority’s environmental 
licence conditions.

Wannon Water has offices in camperdown, 
Hamilton, Portland and Warrnambool to 
provide local access for customers and 
other stakeholders.

A B o U t  
W A n n o n  W A t e R

11 reservoirs, 22 water 
treatment facilities 
(including nine full water 
treatment plants and 13 
disinfection plants) and 17 
water reclamation plants
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Back from left: Bill sharrock, sandra Adams, chairman Harry Peeters, Paul Battista, Managing Director Grant Green
seated from left: Di clanchy, Deputy chair Jacinta ermacora, Marie thornton
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Harry Peeters 
APM, Chairman 
APM, FAICD 
Harry is a fellow of the Australian 
Institute of company Directors.  
His qualifications include the company 
Directors Diploma, Further certificate 
of Management and numerous Victoria 
Police management and leadership 
qualifications.

Harry retired from the Victorian Police 
Force as commander of the corio 
police station in 1997, was a corio shire 
councillor between 1986 and 1992, is a 
former Board Member of corangamite 
catchment Management Authority and 
was a Director of Barwon Water from 
1991 to 2004.  

He is currently executive officer of the 
Western Abalone Divers Association, 
representing members based from 
Warrnambool across to the south 
Australian border. Harry was the Deputy 
chairman for Portland coast Water 
from 2004 to 2005.

Jacinta Ermacora, 
Deputy Chair 
BSW, MSocSc, MAICD 
Jacinta was appointed to the south West 
Water Board in 2004 and reappointed 
to Wannon Water in 2005.  

Jacinta is currently a councillor with  
the city of Warrnambool and is a  
Board member of the Glenelg Hopkins 
catchment Management Authority.  
Her professional experience includes 
consumer rights, community health and 
community engagement.  Jacinta brings  
a range of knowledge and experience  
to the Wannon Water Board, including 
natural resource management, local 
government, health, policy and 
governance. 

Sandra Adams 
FAICD
sandra Adams has had many years’ 
experience in accountancy and taxation 
and has been involved in the water 
industry and local government. 

she was the chair of Glenelg Water from 
1994 to 2005, a past President of the 
former shire of Wannon and a former 
Board Member of Portland coast Water 
and south West Water.

she currently chairs the coleraine 
Management committee of Western 
District Health services and Director/
treasurer of coleraine & District 
Financial services.

sandra is a Fellow of the Australian 
Institute of company Directors.

Paul Battista 
MAICD
Paul Battista was the Deputy chairman  
of Glenelg Water from 2001 to 2005,  
has five years’ experience as a 
hydrographer with the former  
Rural Water corporation and has 
worked in the Murray Darling and 
Goulburn catchments. He was also  
a community member of the Waterways 
Implementation committee for 
the Glenelg Hopkins catchment 
Management Authority from 2000  
to 2005.

Paul is also a member of the Australian 
Institute of company Directors.

He is employed in specialist cutting  
tool manufacturing with sutton tools  
in Hamilton and has certificate  
2 in engineering.

Di Clanchy  
BA, ALAA, MAICD 
Di clanchy was a Board Member at 
Portland coast Water from 2004. she 
is a trained librarian and, until recently, 
worked at Warrnambool’s emmanuel 
college. she has a business organising 
tours, mainly to china.

she has been a Moyne shire councillor 
since 1999, representing the Port Fairy  
Riding. she chairs the shire’s conservation 
and environment, Heritage, and Arts and 
culture committees, and is a member of 
several other Moyne shire committees.

Di is also a member of the Wannon 
Water customer engagement 
committee and the Port Fairy 
Water Reclamation Plant community 
consultation committee. 

Bill Sharrock   
Dip. Tech Ed. (Commerce), MAICD 
Bill sharrock was the chairman  
of Portland coast Water from  
2003 to 2005 and a Director from  
2001. He is currently retiring as a 
member of the Victorian catchment  
Management council. 

He is an original member of the 
Green triangle council for Regional 
Development and has sat on 
development committees for more  
than 20 years.

Bill is a former commissioner of the  
Port of Portland and is currently 
chairman of the Portland Harbour 
stakeholders Group. He is a founding 
member and former treasurer of the 
south West Region Housing council 
and is commercially involved in farming, 
timber production and milling and 
construction.

B o A R D  o F 
D I R e c t o R s



Marie Thornton 
TPTC, FAICD 
Marie thornton served on the south 
West Water Board from 1996 to 2005, 
including a period as Deputy chair, and 
was appointed to the Glenelg Water 
Board in 2004.

Marie has had a career in teaching  
and librarianship and spent 13 years  
in local government as a councillor and 
shire President, and commissioner of 
colac-otway shire during its restructure. 

Marie is a Director of the Board of 
Ballarat and Queen’s Anglican Grammar 
school, where she is a member of the 
Planning and Audit committees.

Marie is a Fellow of the Australian 
Institute of company Directors.

Role of the Board
the Board is responsible for the overall 
corporate governance of Wannon Water, 
including providing strategic direction, 
setting organisational goals and 
monitoring achievement of those goals 
and obligations set out in the statement 
of obligations issued by the Minister for 
Water, environment and climate change.

Role of the Board
the Board is responsible for the overall 
corporate governance of Wannon Water, 
providing strategic direction, setting 
organisational goals and monitoring 
achievement of those goals and 
obligations set out in the statement of 
obligations issued by the Minister for 
Water, environment and climate change. 

Board composition
the Board comprises a non-executive 
chairman and six non-executive 
Directors appointed by the Minister for 
Water, environment and climate change.

consistent with the Water (Governance) 
Act 2006 the Board appointed the 
current chief executive officer, Grant 
Green, as Managing Director from  
1 July 2007.

Board meetings
Board meetings are held monthly and 
additional meetings are convened as 
required.  the decisions of the Board  
are recorded in the minutes of meetings.

Board committees
three Board sub-committees assist 
the Board to carry out its corporate 
governance functions.

Audit Committee
the Audit committee comprises  
a non-executive chairman and two  
non-executive Directors. Meetings 
are held bi-monthly and additional 
meetings are held as required. the 
Audit committee appointed RsM Bird 
cameron as internal auditors. An audit 
program was set in consultation with 
the internal auditors to evaluate the 
adequacy and effectiveness of internal 
controls.  the Audit committee 
reviews the audit reports and monitors 
the actions taken by management in 
response to matters arising from audits.

the Audit committee also meets with 
the external auditor.

Independent members are:
Marie thornton (committee chair), 
sandra Adams, Paul Battista and Harry 
Peeters (ex-officio).

 

Executive Remuneration Committee
the executive Remuneration committee 
comprises a non-executive chairman 
and two non-executive Directors.  
the committee reviews the terms of 
employment of the chief executive, 
oversees succession planning and 
monitors compliance with executive 
employment guidelines issued by the 
state services Authority.
Members: 
Harry Peeters (committee chairman), 
Jacinta ermacora and Bill sharrock.

Risk Management Committee
A Risk Management committee was 
established in July 2006. the committee 
reviews the management of key risks and 
opportunities faced by Wannon Water. 
Meetings are held bi-monthly.
Members:
sandra Adams (committee chair), 
Paul Battista, Dianne clanchy, Jacinta 
ermacora, Harry Peeters, Bill sharrock 
and Marie thornton.

Ethical standards   
the Board acknowledges the need for, 
and continued maintenance of, the 
highest standards of corporate 
governance practice and ethical conduct 
by Directors, employees and contractors. 
the Board has a comprehensive 
governance framework that seeks  
to ensure high standards of ethical 
behaviour through adoption of policies 
supported by specific awareness and 
compliance programs.

the Directors’ code of conduct  
issued by the public sector standards 
commissioner provides guidance to 
Directors to promote compliance with 
the public sector values and good 
governance practice. An instrument of 
delegation was been adopted for financial 
and non-financial decision making.

Performance 
evaluation
A formal process is in place to review 
the performance of the Board, its 
committees and individual Directors 
each year.

Independent advice
Individual Directors have access to 
independent legal advice should the  
need arise.

Wannon Water Annual Report 2006/07    �    
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Director Board Meetings
Audit Committee 
Meetings

Executive Remuneration 
Committee Meetings

Risk Management  
Committee Meetings

Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended

Harry Peeters 12 12 6 6 2 2 5 5

Jacinta ermacora 12 12 - - 2 2 5 5

sandra Adams 12 12 6 6 - - 5 5

Paul Battista 12 11 6 6 - - 5 4

Dianne clanchy 12 12 - - - - 5 5

Bill sharrock 12 10 - - 2 2 5 4

Marie thornton 12 12 6 6 - - 5 5

Directors’ attendance at Board and Committee meetings

Organisational Structure as at � July 2007

Board

Managing Director
Grant Green

MBA, Grad.Dip Man, Dip.Bs (Accounting), FcPA, FIWA, MAIcD

executive Assistant
to Managing Director
Joanne McBain

Manager Marketing & 
communications

Annette Cannon

General Manager
Finance & Regulation
Damian 
O’Doherty
Dip.Bs (Accounting),  
cA, cPA 

General Manager
Retail & corporate 
services
Andrew Jeffers
B eng (civil), M eng (env) 
GAIcD, MIWA

•   customer service and 
call centres

• customer operations

•  Billing & Revenue 
collection

• Debtor Management

• Development services

• Facilities Management

• Licences & Land Matters

• Administrative services

• Knowledge Management

• Information technology

•  Human Resources 
Management

• Business Planning

•  statutory, Financial, 
Accounting, Reporting  
& control

• taxation compliance

• treasury Management

•  economic Regulation  
& Pricing

• Accounts Payable

• Purchasing

•  Business Performance 
Reporting

•  Water, sewerage & 
Recycled Water 
operations & Maintenance

•  Mechanical & electrical 
services

•  treatment Plants

•  catchments & Ground 
Water Bores

• Water Quality system

• trade Waste Agreements

• Dam safety

• emergency Management

• Biosolids treatment

• Asset Management

• Asset Planning

• Asset Design

• Asset Replacement

• contracts Management

• capital Works

• Project services

• Water Resource Planning

 
• sustainability Program

• Innovation Program

• Life cycle Assessment

•  Risk Management & 
Legislative compliance

•  environmental services 
Policy

•  Integrated Management 
system

•  occupational Health  
& safety

• Major customer Liaison

General Manager
Innovation & 
sustainability
Ian Bail 
B For.sci. (Hons)

General Manager
Assets
Brian Jenkins
Dip ce, eWs, Grad Dip 
Mun eng

General Manager
operations
John Huf
Dip ce, eWs, Grad Dip 
Mun eng, Grad Dip Bus 
Admin



economic 
sustainability

cAPItAL WoRKs 12

sUMMARy oF FInAncIAL ResULts  13
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Events subsequent 
to balance date 
At the time of printing this annual 
report, Wannon Water was not aware 
of any events subsequent to balance 
date that would significantly impact its 
operations.

National 
competition policy 
the national competition Policy has 
been implemented by Wannon Water 
under the advice of the Department  
of sustainability and environment.  
the national competition Policy  
aims to improve the performance  
of Australian businesses by exposing 
them, where applicable, to the pressure 
of competitive markets. this improved 
performance will assist the efficient 
allocation of resources and provide 
benefits to consumers in terms of 
service quality and price.

In support of the vision – to be a sustainable business meeting the expectations  
of communities through focus on economic, environmental and social responsibility, 
innovation and best use of water resources – Wannon Water’s approach to 
economic sustainability has focused on addressing the financial issues associated 
with implementing an integrated financial system and business reporting framework, 
along with ensuring efficient delivery of the large capital works program and daily 
operations of the business. 

Financial results 
In 2006/07 Wannon Water funded $17.46 million of capital works, primarily from 
cash holdings and financial operations of the business. total indebtedness increased 
by $2.97 million to $18.22 million.

An operating profit (before income tax) of $1.16 million was recorded for the 
financial year. Although lower than the budgeted profit of $2.62 million, this is still  
a pleasing result.

Capital works program   2006/07

Major capital works project expenditure in 2006/07 included:

Balmoral Water treatment Plant $0.88 million

casterton Water treatment Plant $0.63 million

Hamilton Water Reclamation Plant sludge thickener $0.33 million

Port Fairy Water Reclamation Plant – GsK $4.41 million

Port Fairy Water Reclamation Plant – domestic $0.30 million

Dartmoor Water supply scheme $0.68 million

Peterborough sewerage scheme $3.00 million

Drought response bores $0.53 million

Water mains replacements $0.60 million

A P P R o A c H We will 
ensure our 
business 
performance 
is sustainable 
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Significant changes 
in financial position
Wannon Water’s second year of operation 
has been one of both consolidation and 
expansion, with an increase in operational 
resources. the capital works program as 
implemented has resulted in a small 
increase in borrowings, which are planned 
to increase in the future.

Major changes or 
factors affecting 
performance
two major factors affected Wannon Water’s 
financial performance in 2006/07. Firstly, the 
decline in water yield from the southern 
Grampians catchment due to the drought 
resulted in stage 4 water restrictions being 
implemented for the Hamilton water supply 
system. the water restrictions reduced 
water sales by $0.66 million, and a further 
$0.66 million was expended on drilling 
additional drought relief bores to maintain  
a supply of water to Hamilton. overall, the 
drought had a negative impact of  
$1.32 million and this was partially offset  
by higher water sales of $0.31 million 
elsewhere, mainly due to an increase  
in water consumption by dairy farming 
customers connected to the otway pipeline. 

secondly, although $27.41 million was 
budgeted for capital works. However, only 
$17.46 million was completed in 2006/07, 
with Wannon Water’s requirement for 
borrowings in the year reduced from a 
planned $19.8 million to $2.97 million.

Future challenges
Wannon Water has developed a 50-year 
water supply and demand strategy that  
takes account of regional growth and climate 
change projections to ensure that water 
resources are available to meet the future 
needs of communities in south-west Victoria. 
over the next 12 months the design of a 
major augmentation of the Hamilton water 
system will be undertaken. In addition, a 
number of unplanned capital works projects 
will be completed, including the Macarthur 
Iron sorption Plant and the replacement of 
two deep bores at Portland. As a result, 
Wannon Water has a larger capital works 
program for 2007/08 and is well positioned 
to meet this challenge following the recent 
recruitment of additional engineering 
employees and having entered an innovative 
engineering consultancy arrangement.

200�/06 
($’000s)

2006/07 
($’000s)

core business revenue 32,884 37,366
Government contributions 470 470
other revenue 2,213 2,206
Total revenue ��,�67 �0,0�2

operating expenditure 25,457 28,359
Depreciation expenditure 10,043 9,030
Project expenditure finance costs 1,126 1,102
Loss on sales and 
Decommissioning of assets

1,308 393

Total expenditure �7,��� ��,���

current assets 13,836 10,148
non-current assets 457,228 467,067
Total assets �7�,06� �77,2��

current liabilities 5,607 9,260
non-current liabilities 14,447 15,787
Total liabilities 20,0�� 2�,0�7

Summary of the financial results
As Wannon Water was established in 2005, only two years of data is available.

Name of 
consultant

Project Total Future  
$        

earth tech 
engineering 

Peterborough  
sewerage scheme

 $185,059       $73,960

Kellogg Brown 
& Root 

Port Fairy Water 
Reclamation Plant 
Augmentation

 $368,732       $55,700

GHD engineering  
consultancy services

$1,352,992 $1,232, 400

Total $1,906,783 $1,362,060

Ministerial direction 
In accordance with the reporting requirements of FRD 12, Wannon Water has had 
no contracts in excess of $10 million in the last year.

Consultancies  
Wannon Water engaged 32 consultants costing less than $100,000 in 2006/07 at  
a total cost of $1,098,773.

Consultants costing more than $100,000 in 2006/07 were:

��    
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Investing in assets - 
Dartmoor water 
supply scheme
Until this year, the township of Dartmoor, 
in the state’s far south-west, was one of 
Victoria’s largest towns without a 
reticulated water supply.

In February 2007 Wannon Water officially 
opened the township’s reticulated supply, 
marking the end of a 10-year project.

Dartmoor, with its population of 250 and 
150 homes, had been listed as a “Priority 
one” town under the country towns 
Water supply and sewerage Program.

Wannon Water General Manager of 
Innovation and sustainability Ian Bail said 
community support during the design 
and construction of the scheme had 
proven invaluable. 

 

For the duration of the project, Wannon 
Water worked alongside the Dartmoor 
and District Progress Association and 
with the community to ensure the scheme 
matched the community’s needs and 
expectations.

“We are committed to working in 
partnership with our communities, and 
the input we received during the open 
days in Dartmoor really helped tailor the 
water supply system to meet both the 
immediate and long-term needs of the 
town,” Ian said.

stage one involved constructing a new 
bore and disinfection facilities along with 
a new reticulation supply to homes 
previously supplied from the Green 
triangle Forest Products bore network. 
During stage two, an elevated water 
storage facility was built.

the town’s water supply is now  
drawn from the large Dilwyn Aquifer, 
ensuring a long-term and virtually 
‘drought-proof’ supply.

For the community, this means a reliable 
and higher quality water supply.

In recognition of this, Dartmoor’s 
primary school pupils were on hand for 
the scheme’s official opening in February, 
providing a delightful choral backdrop  
for proceedings.

Wannon Water chief executive officer 
Grant Green said key community 
buildings within the township, including 
the primary school and police station, 
would now have access to a safe drinking 
water supply well into the future.

the $1.58 million project was funded  
in part with a $250,000 state 
Government grant.

top: Director Bill sharrock and chairman Harry Peeters at the official opening of the Dartmoor water supply scheme.  
Above: Dartmoor Primary school students sing the national Anthem at the opening.
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Wannon Water’s social sustainability is aimed at delivery of the associated business  
drivers – to improve service delivery, engage with our community and build an 
organisational culture. Wannon Water works to improve services to customers  
by recognising the diversity of its communities and the provision of reliable high-quality 
water and sewerage services in line with key performance indicators. 

Wannon Water recognises the vital role it plays within the wider community and  
is committed to working together with customers, the community and stakeholders  
to develop effective long-term relationships. community consultation enables Wannon 
Water to make decisions that best meet the community’s needs, valuing their input  
into the development of key policies and projects. 

Wannon Water has proactively undertaken communication campaigns regarding 
water conservation practices and delivered a wide range of communication materials 
to customers regarding various issues.

In building the organisational culture, Wannon Water has focused on one of its  
most valuable assets –  its people – through a number of development and training 
programs, delivery of employee resources and a clear code of conduct.

Wannon Water customers 
Wannon Water provides services to a variety of residential, commercial, industrial  
and rural customers (see customer profile table below).  the 22 largest customers use 
25.5 per cent of water supplied by Wannon Water and are among the largest employers 
in the region. these customers operate in the aluminium, dairy processing, 
pharmaceutical, livestock, meat and wool scouring industries.

Customer 
Segment

No. of  % Water 
Used (ML)

%

Residential       32,209 81%          5,247 43.2%
non-
residential

       4,225 10.6%          1,645 13.5%

Vacant land        1,468 3.7%               44 0.4%
Rural        1,836 4.6%          2,117 17.4%
Major 22 0.1%          3,104 25.5%
Total       ��,760 �00%        �2,��7 �00%

A P P R o A c H

*  Note that vacant land may be where a median strip is watered or a stock trough 
exists without any other development.

We will 
improve our
service 
delivery 
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Performance 
Indicator

200�/06 

Actual

2006/07 

Actual

2006/07 

Target

Reliability of water supply system
Unplanned water supply 
interruptions (per 100km of 
water main)

7.8 10.44 
note 1

10 x

Water response indicators 
Average time to attend Priority 1 
bursts and leaks (minutes)

11.3 17.4 35

Average time to attend Priority 2 
bursts and leaks (minutes)

56.2 29.1 60  

Average time to attend Priority 3 
bursts and leaks (minutes)

50.2 168.0 240

Unplanned water supply 
interruptions restored within  
5 hours 

93.4% 98.4% 97%

Planned water supply interruptions 
restored within 5 hours

91.3% 93.0% 90%

Water interruption time indicators
Average duration of unplanned 
water supply interruptions 
(minutes)

100.6 87.3 108

Average duration of planned water 
supply interruptions (minutes)

190.5 142.6 180

Average unplanned customer 
minutes off water supply (minutes)

9.0 6.10 9.9

Average planned customer 
minutes off water supply (minutes)

6.1 3.08 9

Water interruption frequency indicators
Average frequency of 
unplanned water supply 
interruptions

0.09 0.07 0.09

Average frequency of 
unplanned water supply 
interruptions

0.03 0.02 0.05

Reliability of sewerage collection system
sewer blockages per 100km of 
main

40.0 23.5 38.3

Sewer response indicators
Average time to attend sewer 
spills and blockages (minutes)

32.0 27.6 30

Average time to rectify a sewer 
blockage (minutes)

83.0 89.3 90

sewerage spills contained 
within 5 hours 

98.4% 100% 98%

Customer Service Indicators
complaints to eWoV 
(complaints per 1,000 
customers)

0.31 0.15 0.6

telephone calls answered 
within 30 seconds

99.76% 99.92% 98.9%

AttainedCustomer service 
performance 
indicators for 
2006/07
Wannon Water’s key performance 
indicators and targets were approved  
by the essential service commission  
and are set out in Wannon Water’s 
customer charter.

All customer service targets were 
achieved for the year except for the 
number of unplanned water supply 
interruptions per 100 kilometres  
of water main. overall performance  
in maintaining a high level of service  
was an excellent result given the  
impact of the drought, particularly  
in the Hamilton region.

Note 1.  Drought conditions resulted in 
more bursts and leaks than usual 
over previous years.
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Customer satisfaction survey
Wannon Water conducted an independent survey of its customers in June 2007  
to measure the level of customer expectations with water and sewerage services  
and their satisfaction with these services throughout Wannon Water’s service area.  
In total, 1,650 domestic customers and 300 business customers were surveyed.

the overall level of domestic customers who were satisfied or extremely satisfied 
with the quality of water and sewerage services was 94 per cent, an excellent result 
and the same as the previous year. For business customers, 94 per cent were satisfied 
or extremely satisfied, one percentage point higher than the 93 per cent recorded  
in 2006.  overall Wannon Water’s average rating was 7.7 out of a possible 10, a very 
high average for all elements surveyed.

the 94 per cent satisfaction ratings are particularly pleasing results and build  
on the high ratings of last year. the result is a significant achievement, especially  
given the issues relating to the drought, which have impacted all parts of Wannon 
Water’s business and its customers during 2006/07.

In particular, Wannon Water recorded outstanding results in:
•  the overall management of the water supply
• ease of access to customer service
• helpful and friendly staff
•  keeping customers informed about issues, and
•  responding to unplanned maintenance works.

Areas of major improvement included:
•  all sewerage system services, particularly collecting and treating sewage  

in a responsible and environmentally friendly manner, and
• the expansion of sewerage services.

customers were also very supportive of climate change initiatives, including  
Wannon Water investing in new equipment and procedures to reduce energy  
use, investing in projects such as tree planting to offset greenhouse emissions,  
and buying electricity as ‘green power’ to reduce greenhouse emissions.

overall satisfaction 
with water and 
sewerage services

2006 2007 20072006
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

extremely satisfied/
satisfied

100%

Business customersDomestic customers

94% overall 
customer 
satisfaction 
rating achieved

Responding  
to complaints
Wannon Water encourages customer 
feedback, including complaints, as 
opportunities to maintain or enhance  
its customer loyalty and approval.

Wannon Water is dedicated to treating 
customers fairly and equitably through its 
new corporate complaints Management 
Process. this process recognises the 
need to be fair to both the complainant 
and the organisation. It provides a 
framework for adopting and disseminating 
policy and procedures for the resolution 
of complaints received by Wannon Water. 

the total number of complaints received 
in 2006/07 was 431, which equates to 
11.87 per 1,000 customers. of these,  
276 related directly to water quality 
supplied to consumers in the casterton, 
sandford and Merino districts. Works are 
planned to improve the aesthetic quality 
of water supplied to these customers.

Energy and Water 
Ombudsman 
(Victoria) Scheme
Wannon Water subscribes to an 
independent complaint resolution  
service provided by the energy and 
Water ombudsman (Victoria). While 
Wannon Water remains the first point  
of contact for enquiries about our 
services, the ombudsman provides  
a further level of transparency about 
customer service matters. 

In 2006/07 the ombudsman referred  
26 matters to Wannon Water. of these, 
20 were general enquiries and six were 
complaints investigated by the energy 
and Water ombudsman (Victoria).
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Making payments 
easier with 
quarterly billing
Wannon Water introduced quarterly 
billing in the 2006/07 financial year. 
Rather than receiving three larger bills 
every four months, quarterly billing 
makes payment more manageable for 
residential and small business customers. 
the quarterly bills also include a 
graphical comparison of water use in 
each quarter and typical water 
consumptions based on the number  
of persons in a household to assist 
customers to monitor their water 
consumption more effectively.

 

Community Service 
Obligation Provided

200�/06 2006/07

concession for pensioners $1,595,632 $1,574,134
Water and sewer rebates $249,166 $233,250
Utility relief grant schemes $17,818 $11,108
Water usage life machine rebates $830 $767
Hardship Relief Grant scheme 
(sewerage connection scheme)

$18,359 $45,784

Total $�,���,�0� $�,�6�,0��

these figures are marginally lower than last year for the following reasons: 
1.  Gst ceased to be applied to pension concessions from november 2006 under 

advice of the Department of Human services. 
2.  the concession rebates for water and sewer (not-for-profit organisations are 

entitled to a $260 per year rebate) has temporarily decreased due to a change  
in billing arrangements for service charges in the Portland and Hamilton zones.  
Previously, services charges were paid in advance but are now due at the end  
of the billing period.

Community Service Obligations
community service obligation rebates and grants are funded by the  
state Government and administration of the schemes is funded and managed  
by Wannon Water. 
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Assisting customers 
in genuine financial 
hardship
Late in 2006/07 Wannon Water reviewed 
its customer hardship policy to align with 
best practice within the Victorian water 
industry. the revised customer Hardship 
Policy, available on Wannon Water’s 
website, provides several additional 
benefits for customers in financial 
hardship, including:

•  making it easier for a customer to 
demonstrate genuine financial hardship

•  introducing a bonus credits scheme 
where every fourth payment in a 
payment program is waived

•  introducing debt write-off and debt 
deferral in exceptional circumstances

•  providing special provisions for large 
families in genuine hardship, and

•  providing for subsidised water audits 
and installation of water saving devices 
for residential dwellings.

In 2006/07 Wannon Water assisted 
customers experiencing genuine financial 
hardship by:

•  encouraging customers who receive 
centrelink payments to use the 
fortnightly centrepay facility. At the 
end of 2006/07 there were 497 
customers (2.0 per cent of residential 
customers) using centrepay

•  waiving the interest component on 
overdue accounts.  the total interest 
waived in 2006/07 was $12,717 
($6,362 in 2005/06)

•  informing customers of Government 
assistance programs and assisting 
customers to complete the 
application forms

•  providing customers with advice on 
how to reduce water consumption  
to become a more water-efficient 
household, and

•  referring customers to an 
independent financial counselling 
service.

the number of customers under flexible 
payment arrangements varied over 
2006/07. As at 30 June 2007 there were 
1,260 customers (3.2 per cent of 
customers) and $320,338 under flexible 
payment terms.

Ensuring high-
standard water 
quality
Wannon Water is committed to maintaining 
a high standard of drinking water quality. 
Wannon Water has has made significant 
progress in implementing an integrated 
management system that incorporates the 
requirements of the Australian Drinking Water 
Guidelines (2004) and the Hazard Analysis 
critical control Point approach that meets 
the requirements of the Safe Drinking Water 
Act 2003 and associated regulations.

During 2006/07 over 95,000 water samples 
were taken from Wannon Water’s water 
supply systems. Water samples were 
analysed by an independent laboratory 
certified by the national Association of 
testing Authorities. the parameters tested 
for included, microbiological, physical, 
chemical, radiological, and algal numbers. 

High water quality standards were achieved 
across Wannon Water’s 34 localities. 
compliance with the standards outlined  
in the Safe Drinking Water Regulations 2005  
is shown in the table below.
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e. coli  
(98% of samples 
<1 org/100ml)

2,586 95 0 0 5 100%

Acid soluble 
Aluminium  
(0.2 mg/L)

1,619 2.8 0.01 0.05 45 97.22%

Monochloroacetic 
acid (0.15 mg/L)

586 0.006 0.005 0.005 0 100%

Dichloroacetic 
acid (0.10 mg/L)

586 0.045 0.005 0.010 0 100%

trichloroacetic 
acid (0.10 mg/L)

586 0.059 0.005 0.009 0 100%

trihalomethanes 
(0.25 mg/L)

596 0.74 0.002 0.055 27 95.47%

turbidity (5 ntU, 
95% UcL)

2,566 35 0.1 0.42 0* 100%

Compliance with the Safe 
Drinking Water Regulations
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All localities except cavendish achieved 
compliance with the e. coli standard  
(98 per cent of samples <1 org/100ml). 

All localities fully complied with the 
regulatory standards for monochloroacetic 
acid, dichloroacetic acid, trichloroacetic 
acid and turbidity.

A small number of localities experienced 
some non-compliance against 
trihalomethanes, and aluminium. 

trihalomethane exceedences relate to 
coleraine and Balmoral and are subject to 
current undertakings with the Department 
of Human services. Improvements planned 
for these systems include:

•  a new water treatment plant for 
Balmoral (under construction), and

•  construction of a pipeline to supply 
water from the casterton system to 
coleraine (in design phase).  

Aluminium exceedences occurred at 
various sites throughout Wannon Water’s 
region and will be improved through  
supply system optimisation. Increased 
operational resources were approved in 
2006/07 and will significantly contribute  
to improving the level of aluminium 
compliance in the future.

Full details of Wannon Water’s water 
quality monitoring are contained in the 
annual drinking water quality report 
published in october each year. 
compliance information does not include 
the “regulated supply” to the townships  
of  Darlington and Macarthur and other  
non-potable water supplied to customers 
by agreement.

*  compliance related to the number of localities compliant (34) rather than the number of tests.

Macarthur  
water quality 
the Macarthur water supply is a 
‘regulated supply’ (non-potable) and 
upgrading the water quality to meet  
the Safe Drinking Water Regulations 2005  
is a regulations priority project under  
the country towns Water supply and 
sewerage Program, and is scheduled for 
completion in 2008.

Casterton  
water quality 
In early 2007 Wannon Water encountered 
a number of issues predominately related 
to the aesthetics of the water from the 
casterton water treatment plant.

Following commissioning of a $2.2 million 
upgrade of the casterton Water treatment 
Plant highly coloured oxidised water was 
delivered to some customers in casterton, 
sandford and Merino.  

Water sampling undertaken at the time 
indicated that the level of iron was safe 
from a health perspective. nevertheless, 
the water was highly coloured. Wannon 
Water acknowledged the adverse impact 
this had on customers and worked 
diligently to ensure the problem was 
resolved.

An interim solution has been implemented 
to mitigate the likelihood of this problem 
reoccurring and Wannon Water is working 
with design consultants to identify a  
long-term solution to the problem.

During 2006/07 
over 95,000 water 
samples were taken



Wannon Water is proud of its community involvement and values its relationships 
with key stakeholders in its community. Wannon Water works closely with a wide 
variety of partner organisations, including the corangamite catchment Management 
Authority, Glenelg Hopkins catchment Management Authority, essential services 
commission, environment Protection Authority, Department of Human services, 
Department of sustainability and environment, Department of treasury and Finance, 
the five local councils in Wannon Water’s region, and other regional water authorities 
to deliver quality services.

Working with our Customer 
Engagement Committee
Facilitating involvement of customers in decisions affecting the standards and costs of 
services provided by Wannon Water is a key part of the business and integral to improving 
customer service and helping to define and further strengthen customer relationships.

to strengthen this commitment, Wannon Water established the customer 
engagement committee in october 2005. the committee comprises  
12 members drawn from a broad customer base, including residential and  
non-residential customers.

During the reporting period the committee met quarterly, providing advice on 
matters relating to Wannon Water’s customer charter, water and sewer pricing 
structures, the Water supply Demand strategy and Guaranteed service Levels.

“It is enlightening 
to be part of such 
a diverse group 
of people and we 
all seem to learn 
from each other. 
Wannon Water’s 
vision for educating 
its customers and 
meeting the growth 
needs for the future 
is exciting to be 
involved with.” 
 
- Lou Hollis, Customer Engagement 
Committee

c o M M U n I t y 
I n V o L V e M e n t
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Other customer 
consultation
community consultation enables 
Wannon Water to make decisions  
that best meet the community’s needs. 
consultation helps to ensure the 
community is involved in policy, planning, 
projects, service development and review, 
and the management of the water cycle.

Project-specific consultative committees 
and various community forums were 
convened in 2006/07 to gain feedback 
and input on a range of issues including: 

Dartmoor water supply 
Dartmoor’s water scheme involved 
extensive consultation and communication 
with the Dartmoor community during the 
life of the project. 
 
Wannon Water held an official opening 
for the scheme in February 2007 and 
extended an open invitation to the 
community.

Macarthur Water Quality 
Community Consultative 
Committee 
In December 2006 Wannon Water,  
with the Macarthur Water Quality 
community consultative committee, 
short-listed two water quality 
improvement options:

•  option 1: Reverse osmosis treatment 
of the existing bore water, and

•  option 2: Iron sorption treatment  
of the existing bore water.

 
to gauge community preference for the 
options all Macarthur customers were 
mailed a letter, information pack, ballot 
and reply paid envelope on December 18, 
with the ballot closing on 19 January 2007. 
the ballot showed a clear majority 
preference for the iron sorption 
treatment.

Following the ballot result,  Wannon Water 
determined to move forward with the 
detailed design of the iron sorption solution.  

the Macarthur consultative committee  
has now evolved to a Project Monitoring 
committee.

Peterborough Sewerage Scheme 
Project Monitoring Committee 
this committee provides a community 
consultation forum for the Peterborough 
sewerage scheme project and assists 
Wannon Water in identifying and 
addressing any community issues.  

the committee met throughout the  
year to provide a forum for community 
feedback on the design and construction 
of the project.  Wannon Water has made 
significant progress in construction of  
the scheme and the committee received 
regular updates on the progress of  
the project.

Port Fairy water quality consultation 
Wannon Water had received a petition  
by a small number of customers in the 
Port Fairy community regarding a request 
to improve the drinking water supply by 
the removal of mineral salts. the 2006 
customer satisfaction survey also indicated 
a lower order of satisfaction with the 
taste of the water in comparison to other 
water supply systems managed by 
Wannon Water.

In response, Wannon Water undertook 
consultation with the community in 
December 2006 regarding the potential 
to install a reverse osmosis treatment 
plant, which would improve the taste  
of the drinking water supply system.

All Port Fairy customers were mailed a 
letter, information pack, ballot and reply 
paid envelope to indicate their preference 
out of three options:

•  option 1:  A 1.6 megalitre per day 
reverse osmosis treatment plant

•  option 2:  A 3.0 megalitre per day 
reverse osmosis treatment plant, and

•  option 3: no water quality 
improvement needed.

 
the ballot result was a strong majority 
preference for option 3: no water quality 
improvement needed.

West Portland Sewerage Scheme 
A concept design and cost allocation for  
the West Portland sewerage scheme was 
completed by Wannon Water and presented 
to a meeting with the West Portland 
community on 4 April 2007. Following this 
meeting Wannon Water forwarded details 
of the proposed sewerage scheme to the 
129 relevant landowners and invited them 
to forward written submissions to  
Wannon Water. of the 129 landowners,  
19 submissions (15 per cent of landowners) 
were received.  

the submissions raised a number of  
specific issues and questions that Wannon 
Water answered by direct mail to all West 
Portland landowners.  Wannon Water is 
undertaking consultation with Glenelg shire 
council regarding some of the issues  
raised in the written submissions received 
from landowners.

The Macarthur 
ballot showed a 
clear preference 
for iron sorption 
treatment

Port Fairy  
customers  
indicated a 
preference for 
‘no water quality 
improvement 
needed’
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Community 
inclusiveness  
Wannon Water values community 
inclusiveness and is committed to 
improving the quality of service delivery 
to a culturally and linguistically diverse 
community. this is consistent with the 
Premier’s community inclusiveness 
circular of 2006 relating to culturally  
and linguistically diverse backgrounds, 
women, youth and indigenous affairs.

Wannon Water has established a free 
interpreter service to assist customers 
who do not speak english. Information 
on the free interpreter service is set out 
in our customer charter and on 
customer accounts.

Aboriginal 
archaeology 
Wannon Water undertook cultural 
heritage and archaeological surveys for a 
number of projects in 2006/07, including:

• Wangoom Road trunk sewer scheme
• north Dennington trunk sewer
• Dales Road water storage duplication
•  Port Fairy sewer rising main condition 

assessment
• casterton-coleraine pipeline, and
•  Replacement of Portland water  

supply bores.  

In each of these projects Wannon Water 
sought involvement with the relevant 
cultural heritage group at an early stage  
to ensure that any cultural heritage needs 
and requirements were identified.  Where 
necessary, Wannon Water engaged the 
services of expert consultants to 
undertake cultural heritage surveys  
so that any site of cultural importance 
could be identified and the necessary 
measures taken to ensure the protection 
of these sites.

During the surveys Wannon Water  
liaised closely with the consultant  
and local Aboriginal cultural group 
(Framlingham Aboriginal trust).  Where 
identified by the survey that areas of 
potential cultural significance are likely, 
Wannon Water works with the local 
aboriginal cultural group to ensure the 
necessary monitoring is undertaken 
during construction.

 

Supporting 
community 
organisations 
As a provider of essential services  
in our community, Wannon Water  
aims to be a good corporate citizen  
in everything it does, actively supporting 
and developing community spirit and 
promoting health and wellbeing in the 
south-west of Victoria.

through its sponsorship program, 
Wannon Water aims to promote water 
conservation, physical activity and 
community involvement, and assesses 
each sponsorship application against a 
set of criteria related to these objectives.

In 2006/07 Wannon Water provided 
nearly $10,000 in financial sponsorship 
to 14 appropriate community events 
across its service area, supporting the 
Hamilton society for Growing Australian 
Plants, Portland Basketball Association, 
Port Fairy surf Life saving club, the 
country Fire Authority Firefighting 
championships and various other events.

Wannon Water also made available  
a wide variety of products, including 
4,500 water bottles, 2,500 calico reuse 
bags, 250 rain gauges and various other 
environment-related products.

“Thank you 
so much for c

oming to giv
e the 

Hamilton House Day Centre cli
ents such

 an 

informative and
 interest

ing talk 
on Wannon 

Water reso
urces and

 restrict
ions. This was 

most enligh
tening and

 helpful in
 understa

nding 

current r
estriction

s in place
 for both

 

clients an
d staff.”

- Maryanne C
ampbell,  

Western D
istrict H

ealth Service.

“… Thank you for your gener
ous support and 

contribution to our r
ecent Tarerer Family 

Day event … Our commitment is to family 

and community to strengthen
 understanding 

between indigenous and 
non-indigenous 

people. We would be unable to st
age such 

an event without the generous
 support of 

people like yourselves.”

 - Andy Alberts, Chairman,  

Tarerer–Gunditj Project Association.

Wannon Water provided:
•  $10,000 in financial 

sponsorship
• 4,500 water bottles
• 2,500 calico reuse bags
• 250 rain gauges



Educating the community about water conservation 

Wannon Water has this year stepped  
up its education role in a bid to quench 
the region’s growing thirst for up-to-date 
knowledge about our most precious 
resource.

Responding to the increasing public 
interest in water-related issues, the 
organisation attended a number of 
community events and presentations, 
visited schools across the south-west 
and produced its first Wannon Water-
branded education pack.

the ‘Water – Learn it! Live it!’ package 
was launched on 22 March 2007 and 
distributed to all 83 schools and  
10 libraries in its service area, as well 
as to Deakin University, during the year.

Aimed at teachers, students and at the 
wider community, the pack included a 
series of fact sheets, a cD-Rom and 
teacher resources.

Marketing and communications Advisor 
Richard Honey said that in the interest 
of ensuring the information was relevant 
and useful, the fact sheets were localised 
to the Warrnambool, Hamilton, Portland 
and camperdown regions, and included 
information on topics such as where our 
water comes from and how and where  
it is treated.

“Wannon Water has 21 water treatment 
facilities and 17 water reclamation plants 
throughout the region, and they’re all 
very different. We wanted to make sure 
the information we presented reflected 
those differences,” Richard said.

the education pack and other printed 
materials were just the beginning of 
Wannon Water’s expanding educational 
resources, all of which are available free 
of charge.

Richard said the website had also been 
an important aspect of the organisation’s 
education role, and contained up-to-the-
moment information relevant to the 
entire community.

“We constantly update the website  
to ensure the very latest information 
is available on topics such as water 
restrictions, water-wise gardening, links 
to other relevant sites and information 
about the tours we conduct.

“the tours of our various treatment 
plants are really something we  
encourage schools and community 
groups to do – they’re a great way  
to build a better understanding of  
where water comes from, how it is 
treated and how we can all do our bit  
to preserve this precious resource.”
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Promoting water conservation with 
photo competition 

Wannon Water’s seventh annual ‘Water is a Precious Resource’ photography 
competition was the most successful to date, with a record 750 entries received.

the competition continues to grow in popularity and this year invited entrants  
to submit photos depicting the vital nature of water in our community, helping  
to promote the important message of water conservation.

First, second and third prizes were awarded in six divisions, encouraging primary 
students, secondary students and amateur photographers to enter the competition 
and highlight the importance of preserving water resources for the benefit of our 
communities and the environment.

the photos were of a very high standard and many were exhibited at Wannon Water’s 
offices in Warrnambool, Portland and Hamilton following the official awards night 
held at the Warrnambool civic centre on 2 september 2006. A calendar featuring 
competition photos was also made available for a $2 donation, with proceeds going to 
WaterAid Australia, which provides practical solutions to provide safe water, effective 
sanitation and hygiene education to the world’s poorest people.
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National Water 
Week 
Wannon Water was proud to support 
national Water Week once again in 
2006/07, joining forces with partner 
organisations to coordinate a series  
of community events to raise awareness  
of the precious nature of our water 
resources and the need for water 
conservation.

Wannon Water coordinated a wide variety 
of community events, including water 
education activities for approximately 
400 primary school children in Port Fairy, 
Warrnambool and Hamilton, colouring-in 
competitions in local newspapers (with 40 
prize packs awarded), media interviews and 
articles regarding water conservation.

national Water Week also saw the launch 
of the interactive water catchment 
trailer, a mobile working model aimed at 
explaining what a catchment is. the model 
demonstrates river management, coastal 
and estuary features, how stormwater 

works, how agricultural practices can affect 
river health and examples of industrial 
and domestic water use. the trailer 
was produced by the Glenelg Hopkins 
catchment Management Authority with 
support from Wannon Water and other 
organisations in south-west Victoria.

Promoting the 
Water Smart 
Rebate Scheme 
Wannon Water promoted the state 
Government’s Water smart Rebate 
scheme, enabling eligible customers to 
apply for rebates for purchasing water 
efficient appliances and garden products. 
In 2006/07 Wannon Water processed  
465 rebates totalling $57,750.  of these, 
36 were large tank rebates.

In addition, 1,210 AAA shower roses were 
provided to customers on an exchange 
basis free of charge. this exchange program 
concentrated on those areas where higher 
levels of water restriction existed.

Wannon Water provided additional 
promotion by doubling the AAA shower 
rose rebate from $10 to $20, with 32 
customers receiving the higher rebate.

Wannon Water Managing Director Grant Green and Peter Dark, Glenelg Hopkins cMA chairman, at the launch of the catchment trailer during national Water Week.
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Professional develoPment at Wannon Water  

– simon Hermans, ContraCts manager

Wannon Water Contracts Manager Simon Hermans plays an important role in instilling a culture of learning within his team.

Midway through a Master of Business Administration, Simon has also completed a series of short courses during his five ye
ars with the 

organisation, most of which were completed during work hours.

A civil engineer by profession, Simon understands all too well the benefits of professional development and learning.

“I think it’s vitally important to foster a culture of learning within the team and to provide opportunities for training wherever possible,” he says.

While Simon’s shorter on-the-job courses helped equip him with practical skills and know-how, his MBA studies have given him a broader 

understanding of his work and his role within the engineering profession.

Collectively, his professional development has assisted his steady rise 

through the ranks from Assets/Project Engineer to Contracts Manager 

within the Assets Creation Team.

“Certainly it has made a difference and given me a better idea of the 

bigger picture, especially now that I’m in a management role.”

Wannon Water has supported Simon throughout his MBA studies, providing 

financial assistance and some study leave.

Building a better workplace 
Wannon Water aspires to be an employer of choice in south-west Victoria and currently 
employs a diverse range of employees involved in the delivery of essential water and 
sewerage services and capital works. employees come from a variety of disciplines, 
including engineering, information technology, accounting and commerce, science, human 
resources, administration, marketing, customer service, management and trades such as 
fitting and turning, and electrical.

Wannon Water undertook recruitment in 2006/07 to upgrade strategic planning 
capability and employ additional engineering and operations employees to meet 
regulatory obligations.

Wannon Water’s employee numbers, as at 30 June 2007, are detailed in the table below. 
Wannon Water employs a number of part-time employees. (this table represents the 
total number of employees, not the number of full-time equivalent employees):

 total 
employees

no. 
Males 

% 
Males 

no. 
Females

%  
Females 

2006/07 169 124 73% 45 27%
2005/06 152 106 70% 46 30%

Equal opportunity
Wannon Water is committed to the 
employment principles of the Public Sector 
Management and Employment Act 1998. 
Policies and procedures are in place to 
ensure merit and equity in employment, 
accountability in performance and 
diversification in structure.  Wannon 
Water complies with annual reporting 
requirements of the state services 
Authority with respect to the People 
Matter survey, Public Agency survey and 
Workforce Data collection. 

Training and 
development
Wannon Water aims to build a vibrant 
organisational culture by:

•  providing a productive, satisfying and 
safe workplace for employees

•  developing an organisational culture 
that promotes innovation, teamwork 
and customer service, and

•  providing training and development 
opportunities for employees.

to meet these objectives, Wannon Water 
is creating a workplace that provides 
fulfilling and rewarding opportunities for all 
employees, allowing us to retain talented 
individuals and build a reputation as an 
‘employer of choice’ in the local jobs market.

to further strengthen its skilled and efficient 
workforce and to build an organisational 
culture that supports, nurtures and motivates 
its most important asset – its people 
– Wannon Water has focused on developing 
a combination of learning opportunities and 
activities to meet the developing needs of 
employees across the organisation. these 
include:

•  leadership development for 45 employees 
in a leadership role

•  Australian Inter-service Incident 
Management system (AIIMs) training to 
ensure key employees are competent 
in the effective and efficient control of 
incidents

•  traineeship Program in operations and 
Retail services

•  operations employees completing 
certificate II or III in Water operations

•  financial assistance to employees 
undertaking tertiary education in 
the areas of Business Management, 
Human Resources, Accounting, Project 
Management, engineering and  Masters 
Degrees in Business Administration and 
environmental science, and 

•  in-house training on a number of software 
applications.

simon with Fiona english,  
inspecting the plans for a new pipeline



traineesHiP Case stUdY:  laUrinda Wilson, CUstomer relations offiCer
Wannon Water Customer Relations Officer Laurinda Wilson has a promising career ahead of her in administration. But it wasn’t always that way.

After leaving school, Laurinda moved into a factory job, but quickly realised “this was not the job for her”.

Applying for a traineeship at Wannon Water proved to be a turning point, paving the way to a career in which she is “never bored”.

Laurinda completed her 12-month traineeship in March 2007, and now feels she has the foundations on which to build a solid career.

“I feel as though I’m going somewhere,” she says. “A lot of my learning was on-the-job, and I always had someone helping me or showing me how to do things.
“It really complemented what I was learning through my formal training, and I still feel like I’m constantly learning.”
Each week of her traineeship, her training provider, WestVic Training, would provide a series of questions and projects for Laurinda to complete during work hours. Later, a workplace assessor would visit her at the office and go over what she had done.
“It was all definitely very relevant to my job.”

Today, she stills draws upon the wealth of knowledge and experience proffered by her colleagues.

Swapping the plains and paddocks of a Murray River farm for the pipes and waterways of the Wannon region has proven “a real eye-opener” for Stephen Donat.

The former farmer completed a Wannon Water Operations and Maintenance traineeship in June 2007 – not such a quantum leap as might be expected given Stephen’s ready ability to turn his hand to almost anything.

He is now one of a team of operations and maintenance workers who are dispatched to help repair burst or leaking water pipes, blocked sewers and the like, and to maintain Wannon Water’s intricate infrastructure network.

Although professing to find blocked sewers “a bit foreign at first”,  he has taken to his new role.

“The whole job’s been a real eye-opener,” he says. “I really enjoy the people side of it – dealing with the public. And the water side of things is probably one of my favourite parts of the job.”

For the duration of his 12-month traineeship, Stephen spent two hours each Friday completing written exercises and projects set by trainers at South West Institute of TAFE.

“I didn’t have to do it in my own time; I could do it at work. I could ask some of the other people who’ve been around here for a while about things, or look it up on the computer, and the rest I really learned on the job.”

traineesHiP Case stUdY:  stePHen donat, oPerations and maintenanCe offiCer
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Building 
organisational 
culture
Wannon Water will continue to 
foster a performance-based and 
customer-focused organisational  
culture by providing appropriate and 
relevant professional development 
programs. Wannon Water will also 
ensure that quality ongoing employee 
education, professional development 
and training are provided and that such 
programs are accessible by all staff on 
an equitable basis.

Wannon Water’s focus will be to 
consolidate current programs and 
continue to implement learning 
strategies, recruit employees with  
values that match Wannon Water’s 
values, and seek new initiatives that  
will drive continuing improvement  
such as:
•  measurement and analysis  

of culture and behaviours 
•  review and improve performance 

evaluation process, including reward 
and recognition 

•  team dynamics, including building 
individual team culture

•  employee Assistance Program
•  develop a friendly, flexible and 

contemporary workplace, and
•  nurturing approach by management.

Key Occupational Health and 
Safety Indicators 

200�/06 2006/07

number of Lost time Injuries (LtI) 6 3
LtI frequency rate (LtI occurrences  
per one million hours worked)

20 9

LtI duration rate (average days lost  
per LtI)

11 19

significant injury (days lost per one  
million hours worked)

233 172*

Ensuring a safe 
workplace
Wannon Water is committed to  
ensuring the health and safety of its 
employees and members of the public, 
consultants and contractors, for whom  
it has a duty of care.  Wannon Water 
recognises that safety is both an 
individual and shared responsibility.

occupational health and safety is  
a key component of the Integrated 
Management system and is closely 
associated with the innovation program. 

Wannon Water invested significant 
resources in health and safety training  

for employees in 2006/07, which has 
greatly supported our workforce. 
Backsafe, Roadside traffic Management 
and electrical spotters training were 
some of the key safety programs 
delivered during the year.

the effective performance of the 
operational occupational Health and 
safety committee saw consultation come 
to the fore. this assisted with compliance 
and ownership of employee health and 
safety.

In 2006/07, Wannon Water’s focus on 
safety resulted in a substantial reduction 
in the number and frequency of Lost 
time Injuries in comparison to 2005/06.

“Your safety 
first, task 
second”  

- Grant Green, Managing Director.

* the majority of days lost were as a result of injuries that occurred in prior years.



Key Occupational Health and 
Safety Indicators 

200�/06 2006/07

number of Lost time Injuries (LtI) 6 3
LtI frequency rate (LtI occurrences  
per one million hours worked)

20 9

LtI duration rate (average days lost  
per LtI)

11 19

significant injury (days lost per one  
million hours worked)

233 172*

Ensuring a safe 
workplace
Wannon Water is committed to  
ensuring the health and safety of its 
employees and members of the public, 
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resources in health and safety training  

for employees in 2006/07, which has 
greatly supported our workforce. 
Backsafe, Roadside traffic Management 
and electrical spotters training were 
some of the key safety programs 
delivered during the year.

the effective performance of the 
operational occupational Health and 
safety committee saw consultation come 
to the fore. this assisted with compliance 
and ownership of employee health and 
safety.

In 2006/07, Wannon Water’s focus on 
safety resulted in a substantial reduction 
in the number and frequency of Lost 
time Injuries in comparison to 2005/06.

environmental 
sustainability

APPRoAcH 32
   
WAteR consUMPtIon 33

DRoUGHt ResPonse FeAtURe 40
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A P P R o A c H
the environment is one of the pillars of a sustainable business and Wannon Water 
is committed to developing and implementing sustainable practices to protect 
natural resources for the future. Wannon Water’s approach towards environmental 
sustainability is to integrate its resource management to ensure positive 
environmental outcomes whilst working within legislative and regulatory 
frameworks.

As land stewards, Wannon Water works to protect and enhance ecological assets 
within its core water and sewerage service operations. other important 
considerations include cultural heritage sites and vegetation management. these 
constitute important planning considerations for all Wannon Water projects and 
operations. 

Wannon Water also maximises opportunities to promote water conservation and 
efficient use of water. Recycled water is a valuable resource and Wannon Water 
continually seeks opportunities to substitute potable water with fit-for-purpose 
recycled water.

Bulk Water Entitlement Amount harvested

otway system conversion 
order

10,129 out of a maximum of 
12,580 megalitres (80.5%) 

Hamilton conversion order 924 out of a maximum of  
3,435 megalitres (26.9%)

coleraine, casterton and 
sandford conversion order

148 out of a maximum of  
855 megalitres (17.3%)

Dunkeld conversion order 23 out of a maximum of  
170 megalitres (13.5%)

Glenthompson conversion 
order

0 out of a maximum of  
94 megalitres (0.0%)

Wimmera and Glenelg Rivers 
conversion Amendment order

As at 30 June 2007, Wannon  
Water had received 31.5 out of 
a maximum 47 megalitres (67%). 
entitlement year is 1 nov. to 
31oct.

Water sources 
Wannon Water has a diverse range  
of water source supplies in its region,  
the three largest being the otways 
system (Arkins creek catchment and 
Gellibrand River), the Grampians system 
and the Dilwyn Aquifer. the otways and 
Grampians systems have water storages 
and transportation pipelines, whereas the 
Dilwyn Aquifer supplies directly to local 
treatment plants.

the otways system supplies water  
to customers in urban and rural areas 
within the geographic area bounded  
by Warrnambool, Koroit, to Mortlake, 
Derrinallum, camperdown and simpson. 
Water is extracted from the Arkins 
creek and the Gellibrand River. 
Warrnambool and Mortlake otway 
supplies are supplemented by local 
groundwater extraction.

Water from the Grampians system 
supplies Hamilton, Dunkeld, tarrington 
and cavendish.  the Grampians supply  
is usually exclusively from seven small 
streams, though much of the flow for 
2006/07 was sourced from the 
emergency bores augmented from  
two to four in this year.

customers from casterton, sandford 
and Merino are supplied from the  
tullich Borefield.

the deep Dilwyn Aquifer is the source of 
water for Dartmoor, Heywood, Portland, 
Port Fairy, Peterborough, Port campbell 
and timboon.

coleraine is supplied by the local surface 
water catchment. caramut, Penshurst 
and Macarthur are supplied from local 
groundwater systems. Balmoral is 
supplied from the Rocklands Reservoir. 
Glenthompson receives water from two 
local reservoirs and from the Willaura 
bore system (operated by Grampians 
Wimmera Mallee Water).

Note that no water was taken under the Glenthompson Bulk Entitlement Conversion 
Order. An amount of 45.5 megalitres was purchased from Grampians Wimmera 
Mallee Water to supply a total system demand of 43.2 megalitres.
See Appendix 1 for notes on Wannon Water’s Bulk Entitlement Conversion Orders.

Bulk Water Entitlements
the annual amounts harvested under Wannon Water’s Bulk entitlement conversion 
orders in 2006/07 were: 
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80

Water extractions from the otways (surface and groundwater) system increased  
by 1.7 per cent, from 10,887 megalitres to 11,070 megalitres. A significant increase  
in groundwater extractions saw water harvested from the Grampians (Hamilton) 
system increase 11.5 per cent from 1,388 megalitres in 2005/06 to 1,548 megalitres 
this year. 
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Sewage treatment    
the treated effluent discharged from  
12 of the 17 water reclamation plants 
fully complied with environment 
Protection Authority discharge licences. 

the Portland Water Reclamation Plant 
treatment lagoons were de-sludged, 
resulting in improved performance. 
However, licence conditions for 
Biochemical oxygen Demand (BoD), 
suspended solids, e. coli and ammonia 
continued to be breached. the lagoons 
are currently being reconfigured and 
additional aeration is being installed. this 
should result in BoD and suspended 
solids compliance by october 2007. 
 A major upgrade of the treatment plant 
is planned to commence in 2008 to 
ensure all licence criteria are met. 

A new treatment facility at Port Fairy to 
treat the GlaxosmithKline waste stream is 
currently being commissioned. During the 
construction and commissioning phase of 
the facility, a number of suspended solids 
and BoD licence breaches occurred. this 
was due to the required disruption of the 
normal treatment process to enable 
construction to occur. 

elevated e-coli results were recorded  
on occasion at the Hamilton, Port Fairy 
domestic and simpson water reclamation 
plants, reducing compliance back to  
98 per cent in these three cases.

Producing biosolids
Biosolids are nutrient-rich organic 
materials processed from treated 
sewerage sludge. the sludge is generated 
as a by-product of the sewerage 
treatment process. sludge produced at 
Warrnambool and Port Fairy Domestic 
Water Reclamation Plants was 
transported to the biosolids treatment 
facility at camperdown.  At camperdown 
the sludge is dried and composted into 
biosolids for reuse on farms in the 
surrounding area. the biosolids act  
as a soil conditioner and have a look, 
smell and texture similar to a dark and 
rich organic soil.  

Wannon Water produced 2,451 dry 
tonnes of biosolids for the year.  the 
sludge generated at the Port Fairy 
Industrial Plant was transported for 
reuse at Bio Gro in Mount Gambier. 
sludge generated at the Hamilton Water 
Reclamation Plant was stockpiled on site.

In total, 4,486 tonnes of biosolids  
were reused this year. this represents 
the reuse of 183 per cent of biosolids 
production in 2006/07. (Due to weather 
conditions, reuse of biosolids at 
camperdown was unable to be carried 
out in 2005/06. therefore, two years’ 
biosolids were reused from the 
camperdown site this year.)

Regional Catchment 
Management 
Strategy
Wannon Water continues to work 
closely with the two catchment 
management authorities in south-west 
Victoria and other regional partners  
to develop and implement various plans 
and strategies to improve the state of 
the region’s natural assets. In 2006/07 
Wannon Water contributed to the 
development of the Glenelg Hopkins 
catchment Management Authority 
Regional Weed Plan and native 
Vegetation Plan, which are subsidiary 
plans to the Regional catchment 
strategy. In addition, the Victorian 
Government called for submissions on 
its Land & Biodiversity White Paper,  
 

Biosolids treatment Facility at camperdown.
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Wannon Water recognises and supports 
the importance its customers and 
communities place on working to 
protect and improve the biodiversity  
of the region. During 2006/07, Wannon 
Water developed a natural resource 
management strategy, incorporating 
biodiversity, and has been undertaking  
a range of on-ground projects.

one key site is at Bald Hill, south  
of Portland, which forms part of the 
Portland Heathland complex. the site  
is managed by Wannon Water and  
houses the key water supply bore  
assets supplying Portland.

In May 2007 Wannon Water oversaw a 
successful ecological burn of heathland at 
Bald Hill that will provide future benefits 
for the local environment. this work 
follows on from previous regeneration 
burns undertaken as part of the Portland 
Heathland Management Plan, involving 
Wannon Water and neighbouring land 
managers. the Portland Heathland 
contains a number of rare and 
threatened flora and fauna species, 

including the southern emu Wren and 
Mellbloms spider orchid.

the condition of the heathland had been 
declining over recent years due to 
invasion by a number of species, 
particularly coastal Wattle. Heathlands 
require a regular fire regime to keep 
them healthy, and the ecological burn will 
encourage the native species to 
regenerate and slow the spread of weeds 
in the area. this will provide additional 
habitat for native plants and animals. 

Wannon Water worked closely with 
several agencies, including the country 
Fire Authority, to identify the most 
suitable time for the ecological burn, 
measures to minimise harm to critical 
species and activities to monitor and 
maintain the site during regeneration.

the work was very successful and will 
help maintain and restore the 
biodiversity of the area, consistent with 
Wannon Water’s emphasis on 
environmental sustainability. 

Protecting biodiversity at Bald Hill

to which Wannon Water responded.
Wannon Water contributed to the 
delivery of the Regional catchment 
strategy through various projects and 
groups such as:

•  Land capability and Biodiversity 
Project (Moyne shire council)

• southwest sustainability Partnership 
• southwest climate change Group 
• Heathland Management committee 
•  Glenelg Hopkins catchment, and 

Management Authority River Health 
Advisory Group. 

Victorian 
Biodiversity 
Strategy
Wannon Water manages approximately 
3,000 hectares of land spread over a 
large area with varying landscapes, soil 
types and climates. coastal land at 
Portland contains Heathland species that 
supports the vulnerable southern emu 
Wren, while land at Dunkeld contains 
grassy woodland species such as the 
vulnerable striped Legless Lizard and 
endangered Plump swamp Wallaby Grass. 
three Wannon Water sites are used in 
the natural Heritage trust’s Distribution 

and Preferences of the Striped Legless 
Lizard (Delma Impar) in Western Victoria 
study. these sites contain artificial habitat 
used to determine the movement and 
habitat preferences of the lizard.  the 
study has been progressing for over 
three years and is continuing the 
development of partnerships between 
the community and government in the 
custodianship of biodiversity.

throughout 2006/07, Wannon Water 
continued developing a biodiversity asset 
register and natural Resource Management 
Action Plan. the action plan will direct 
future activities that support the delivery 
of the Victorian Biodiversity strategy and 
Regional catchment strategy. Recognised 
in the plan is Wannon Water’s role as a 
member of the Heathland Management 
committee, which delivers a Heathland 
Management Plan covering 506 hectares 
on Point Danger, cape sir William Grant 
and adjacent land known informally as 
the Portland Heathland. Wannon Water 
manages 10.6 hectares of this land. 

Victorian River 
Health Strategy    
Wannon Water developed its key 
strategic planning document, the Water 
supply Demand strategy, in 2006/07. this 
document recognises the importance of 
healthy rivers and streams, not only to 
regional water supplies but to landscapes, 
ecosystems and the identity of the 
region. effective demand management is  
a key lever for reduced extractions from 
rivers and is a focus of the strategy.

Wannon Water is also involved in  
on-ground projects to support regional 
river health programs.  An example is the 
fencing and revegetation of a section of 
the Glenelg River on Wannon Water-
managed land at casterton. the land is 
within the Mid-Glenelg River – G3, a 
priority sub-catchment identified in the 
Glenelg Hopkins catchment 
Management Authority Regional River 
Health strategy. this project has 
contributed to the health of the river  
by excluding stock access, improving 
bank stability and the riparian zone.



�0    Wannon Water Annual Report 2006/07

this year marked the 10th successive year  
of drought in Australia and one of the driest 
spells on record in the Wannon Water 
service area. As a result of continued low 
water storage levels, Wannon Water invoked 
its drought response plan and a number  
of towns were placed on stage four water 
restrictions, including Hamilton, cavendish, 
Dunkeld, tarrington, Balmoral and 
Glenthompson, while stage one water 
restrictions were in place in coleraine.

the drought provided many challenges  
for all areas of Wannon Water’s business, 
particularly for the operations and water 
treatment teams who dealt with the impact 
on water storages and treatment plants as 
new processes were implemented to handle 
drought relief supplies of groundwater to 
supplement dwindling water storages.

teams were often stretched to the limit  
as they addressed issues of water balance  
and water quality, dry earth impacting the 
reticulation systems and lower water flows 
through the pipes leaving residue. 

the need to keep customers and communities 
informed also provided a challenging time for 
the Marketing and communications team.

Wannon Water’s drought response actions 
were aimed at ensuring a clean and safe 
water supply to customers while supporting 
consumers in their bid to lessen water 
consumption.

A crucial aspect of Wannon Water’s drought 
response proved to be the early summer 
explorations for alternative water supplies 
for the Hamilton water supply system.

As a result of this exploration drilling 
campaign, two new bores were sunk in  
and on the edge of the Grampians national 
Park, with the reliable groundwater supply  
of water helping to stave off the need for 
emergency water rationing in the  
Hamilton district.

Branch Manager of systems operations  
John Whitewood said these bores proved 
“reasonably critical”.

“the (existing Hamilton region) surface 
water supplies would not have kept up  
with demand,” he said.

General Manager of operations John Huf 
said the greater reliance on groundwater for 
the Hamilton water supply had presented  
a series of challenges.

“the water was a lot harder and it had a 
different chemistry, meaning we had to adjust 
the treatment plant accordingly.”

Wannon Water employees also worked 
alongside businesses and high water 
consumption customers, unearthing  
16 serious leaks at some of these premises.
collectively, these leaks resulted in  
31,000 litres of water being wasted daily,  
so identifying and fixing these resulted in 
considerable long-term savings.

In January 2007 Wannon Water trialled an 
innovative solution to reduce water loss by 
applying evaporative retardant on the water 
storage to reduce the amount of water lost 
to evaporation. Although difficult to measure 
accurately, there is evidence that the 
application of the evaporative retardant 
contributed to saving water over the period 
that it was applied.

Wannon Water’s Marketing and 
communications team also went into  
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over-drive during the height of summer in a bid to 
bring up-to-the-moment information to all households 
and businesses in the service area.

Whether on water restrictions or under Permanent 
Water savings Measures, information brochures  
and posters were produced for display in shopping 
centres, businesses, schools and offices across  
the region.

A carefully orchestrated advertising program 
complemented a busy public relations schedule as 
team members worked to keep all customers abreast 
of the drought situation.

In the Hamilton area 1,200 households took 
advantage of Wannon Water’s showerhead exchange 
program, under which homes could save up to  
$60 per year on their water and energy bills by 
exchanging their old showerhead for a new water 
efficient model at no cost, as these were provided 
under a state Government program.

Wannon Water also conducted free gardening 
workshops, offering advice and tips on how to 
maintain a healthy garden through stage four  
water restrictions.

Wannon Water was vigilant with water quality issues 
and, in March, took the precautionary measure of 

issuing a five-day ‘boil water notice’ to Hamilton and 
tarrington customers, some of whom were noticing  
a slight discolouration of their water associated with 
the increased reliance on groundwater.

General Manager Retail and corporate services 
Andrew Jeffers said Wannon Water employees 
flushed the affected pipes and carefully monitored 
water quality to ensure it was safe for drinking and 
food preparation.

“one of the effects of drought is that it becomes  
a lot harder to maintain effective chlorine residual 
levels throughout the whole system and this is why 
we took the precautionary measure of issuing the 
boil water notice,” he said.

While very welcome, autumn rains did not mark  
the end of the drought period, and Wannon Water 
continues to work with all customers to help develop 
more sustainable water usage patterns into the 
future. this includes an increased focus on education 
and the introduction of penalty infringement notices 
for non-compliance with restrictions.

the Water supply Demand strategy (see page 45) 
also identified projects to help reduce the risk of 
water restrictions in future droughts, particularly the 
need for urgent action to secure an additional water 
supply for Hamilton as a key action. 

 towns stage 1 
Restrictions 
commenced

stage 2 
Restrictions 
commenced

stage 3 
Restrictions 
commenced

stage 4 
Restrictions 
commenced

Balmoral Prior to 2005/06 1 April 2006 15 october 2006

Glenthompson 12 november 
2005

1 April 2006 15 october 2006

Hamilton, 
cavendish, 
Dunkeld and 
tarrington

21 January 2006 1 April 2006 4 november 
2006

5 December 2006

coleraine 16 December 
2006 (removed 
10 June 2007)

Uniform Water Restrictions timeline
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Press advertising 
campaign

•  Wannon Water maintained a strong presence with paid advertisements in newspapers across the service region to 
highlight restrictions and Permanent Water saving Measures.

Radio advertising 
campaign

•  In the Hamilton area, Wannon Water conducted a water restrictions campaign from september 2006 on 3HA and Mixx 
FM, sponsoring local weather bulletins for both stations.

•  In Warrnambool, Wannon Water promoted Permanent Water savings Measures on 3yB and coast FM. 
•  A coast FM summer promotional campaign was also conducted with the ‘Water Wise cruiser’ vehicle visiting  
30 locations during January 2007.

community 
newsletters

•  Water restrictions and Permanent Water saving Measures were highlighted in a number of regional community 
newsletters.

Public relations 
and media 
relations

•  Wannon Water took part in weekly radio interviews on Hamilton radio stations 3HA and Mixx FM Breakfast from 
october 2006 until March 2007.

•  Monthly radio interviews were conducted on Warrnambool-based radio stations 3yB and coast FM from october 2006 
until June 2007.

•  Hamilton’s daily water consumption targets were published on the front page of the Hamilton spectator each edition. 
these targets continue to be published.

•  Hamilton’s daily water consumption target was also broadcast daily from December 2006 on breakfast radio programs 
on 3HA and Mixx FM, and continues.

•  Regular media releases were issued across the region, helping to generate exceptional coverage of water-related issues.
•  ‘Water wise’ advertising features were staged in the Hamilton spectator, the Warrnambool standard, the Portland 
observer and the camperdown chronicle.

•    the highly successful free ‘water wheel’ was inserted in the Hamilton spectator on 9 February 2007.

signage •  street and roundabout banners were erected at 12 prominent locations in Warrnambool and Portland, and 17 locations 
in Hamilton.

•  Pull-up banners promoting awareness of restrictions and water savings measures were displayed at Wannon Water’s 
Warrnambool, Portland, camperdown and Hamilton offices, in the Warrnambool city council foyer, at Warrnambool’s 
Gateway Plaza shopping centre, at the Portland library and the Hamilton Aquatic centre.

•  VicRoads water restrictions signs were erected at three major entry points to the Hamilton township.

Water Patrol car •  Wannon Water’s specially sign-written Water Patrol vehicle maintained a high profile in Hamilton, reminding residents 
restrictions were in force.

Direct marketing •  Letters, flyers and brochures were mailed directly to customers as various regions moved into restrictions, and 
informative inserts were included with accounts.

•  Letters were mailed to all retail/hardware/garden shops, caravan parks, tourist information centres and sporting groups.
•  on-hold telephone messages were recorded to promote restrictions or water savings measures in force at each office as 

relevant.
•    Posters and point-of-sale material: 
     - posters were displayed at 32 locations affected by stage four restrictions; 
     - point-of-sale tent signs were displayed at 26 other locations affected by restrictions;
     - posters promoting Permanent Water savings Measures were displayed at 114 locales;
     -  tent signs were displayed at 213 other locations affected by Permanent Water savings Measures.

events • showerhead exchange days:
     -  residents in the Balmoral, Glenthompson and Hamilton region took advantage of the opportunity to exchange their 

old showerheads for new water-saving showerheads in December 2006.
• Water saving Garden Workshops:
     -  gardeners were given tips and ideas on how to create and maintain water-wise gardens at two workshops in Hamilton 

during December 2006.

Wannon Water 
website

•  the website was used as an important tool to ensure up-to-the-moment information was readily available to all 
customers and residents throughout the service region.

Keeping customers informed about water restrictions  
and Permanent Water Savings Measures

R e s P o n D I n G  t o  D R o U G H t
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Work with local government 
in preparing water 
conservation plans 

Wannon Water assisted the five local councils to develop their sustainable Water Use Plans. Wannon Water is working 
with the regional monitoring body, the south-West Municipal Water Use committee, to monitor progress on these 
plans.  

Implement leakage reduction 
programs to reduce 
distribution losses

Wannon Water has developed a leakage detection and reduction program, which aims to reduce the volume and 
percentage of water lost to leakage. Acoustic equipment is used to identify hidden leaks (those that do not appear at 
the surface). Reticulation sub-system metering, particularly in porous areas, will be established to improve the targeting 
of the leakage detection program.

Provide sewerage and water 
supply solutions under the 
country towns Water supply 
and sewerage Program

the majority of the Peterborough sewerage scheme was constructed in 2006/07.  the scheme will be completed in 
2007/08 and will remove a significant pollutant load to the curdies River and estuary. Wannon Water received 
$900,000 in Government funding for the project.

Wannon Water received $165,000 in Government funding for the Dutton Way sewerage scheme to develop an 
options report for the scheme, and $140,000 in Government funding to design a water supply quality upgrade in 
Macarthur.

Develop pricing structures 
that provide incentives for 
sustainable water use

In preparation for the next regulatory period, commencing 1 July 2008, separate water and sewerage pricing papers 
were presented to the community for comment. the papers were also subject to formal review and feedback from 
Wannon Water’s customer engagement committee.  For residential customers the water pricing paper proposes:

• an inclining block pricing structure (three price blocks), and
• increasing the volume charge and reducing fixed service charges.

Both changes received favourable support and provide financial incentive and reward to reduce water consumption.

Prepare Water supply 
Demand strategy

Wannon Water launched its 50-year Water supply Demand strategy which includes a $30 million project to augment 
Hamilton’s water supply by 2,000 megalitres. the strategy includes an assessment and allowance for the impact of 
climate change on the water supply and demand equation, as well as targets for water conservation and options for 
supply augmentation when necessary.

Develop water savings targets A target has been established to reduce per capita water consumption by 30 per cent by 2015 (from a baseline 
1996/97). Fifteen demand reduction initiatives have been identified to achieve the target. 

Introduce Permanent Water 
saving Measures

Permanent Water savings Measures were introduced in May 2006. A comprehensive community education and 
awareness program throughout 2006/07, promoting messages through a variety of initiatives, including community 
events, advertising, media campaigns and mailouts. 

Undertake community 
education and information 
programs to encourage water 
savings

Wannon Water embarked on a comprehensive community education and awareness campaign throughout 2006/07  
to encourage water savings, which included:
• the launch of a water education resource kit for schools (sent to 83 schools, 10 libraries and Deakin University)
• many school presentations and facility tours
• sponsorships and community investment programs
• advertising and marketing campaigns
• mass media campaigns
• newsletters and water saving brochures
• water audits
• promotion of the Water smart Gardens and Homes Rebate scheme, and
• support of the Federal Government “community Water Grant” program.

See the Drought Response section on pages 40 to 43 for further information.

Make water bills more 
informative

the content of residential customer bills was modified to include a benchmark presentation of water consumption 
based on the number of persons in a household.

Develop uniform four-stage 
water restriction guidelines 
for drought response

the Minister approved Wannon Water’s by-law on 15 August 2006.  the by-law adopted the statewide four-stage water 
restriction guidelines for drought response.  

Work with industry towards 
improved water management 
outcomes

Wannon Water’s dedicated major customer client managers continue to develop partnership projects with the largest 
users of water. A review of future demand scenarios was also developed with industry and incorporated into the Water 
supply Demand strategy.
 
eleven out of the 12 major customers have developed a Water conservation Management Plan (refer table 2 page 47).

Our Water Our Future
In 2006/07 Wannon Water continued to make significant progress in delivering against relevant initiatives set out in the Victorian 
Government’s Our Water Our Future water reforms. the major initiatives implemented throughout 2006/07 are summarised below.
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Delivering on the state Government’s 
Our Water Our Future requirement  
to produce a long-term water supply 
plan, Wannon Water developed and 
implemented its Water supply Demand 
strategy during the year, an ambitious  
50-year plan to provide sustainable water 
supplies into the future.

the Water supply Demand strategy 
identifies new water sources and 
proposes new water use efficiencies.

taking into account such variables as 
population growth and decline in various 
parts of the region, water usage patterns 
and climate change projections, the 
strategy will also safeguard the health  
of rivers and waterways within the 
service region.

 

the strategy will help all customers – 
business, domestic and rural – to 
become more ‘water wise’, and a water 
savings target has been set for a 30 per 
cent reduction in per capita water use  
by the year 2015.

More recycled water will also be used, 
with usage to climb from its current level 
at just under a quarter of all water being 
recycled to around 35 per cent by 2015.
Wannon Water Managing Director  
Grant Green said that while consumers 
had become more conscious of the need 
to conserve water, the current supply 
systems would come under stress in 
about 20 years if water use by 
householders and businesses was not 
further reduced.

“Wannon Water manages 14 water 
supply systems; consequently, there is  
no single solution for what is ahead of 
us,” Mr Green said.

“our approach is to propose common 
water conservation actions and to tailor 
water supply options for each water 
system, an approach which recognises 
the interrelationship between water,  
the environment and the needs of  
the community.”

Proposed key actions in the Water 
supply Demand strategy include:

•  urgent action to secure an additional 
water supply for Hamilton, where 
customers are currently under  
stage 4 restrictions

•  a targeted 13 per cent reduction  
in per capita water use by 2015  
to achieve an overall 30 per cent 
reduction since 1997, and

•  an expansion in the use of recycled 
water so that one third of all 
wastewater treated by Wannon Water 
is beneficially reused by 2015.

Planning for future needs – Water Supply Demand Strategy
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Annual reporting of major  
non-residential water users 
Wannon Water under section 122ZJ of the Water Act 1989 is required to report 
major non-residential water users, indicating:
•  the number of major non-residential water customers for each category of annual 

water consumption, and
• the status of the customers’ participation in a water management plan.

 Volumetric range – megalitres (ML) per year no. customers

50ML to 100ML 4
100ML to 200ML 3
200ML to 300ML 0
300ML to 400ML 1
400ML to 500ML 3

500ML to 750 ML 1
750ML to 1000ML 0
Greater than 1000ML 0 

Table 1: Customers by volume range

Wannon Water’s approach to water 
conservation programs is to educate and 
influence through all its communication 
activities. Water conversation messages 
are central in all Wannon Water does, 
maximising opportunities to promote 
water conservation and the efficient use 
of water through all services and 
activities. some of the ways Wannon 
Water integrated water conservation 
education and awareness messages in 
activities in 2006/07 included:

•  through sponsorships and community 
investment programs, providing 
banners, merchandise and advertising 
that highlight water saving tips, water 
efficient products and raise awareness 
for the need of water wise behaviours,

•  promotion of the Permanent Water 
savings Measures and water 
restriction levels to effect water 
conservation were an integral part  
of advertising and marketing activities, 
with mass media and community 
awareness campaigns focused on 
these,

•  Wannon Water’s school education 
program, including presentations and 
facilities tours, features water 
conservation messages and dedicates 
activities to the importance and 
identification of water saving actions 
in and around participants’ homes  
and schools,

•  a redesign of customers’ bills and 
specially designed information 
brochures to include water 
conservation messages, such as  
bi-annual newsletters and the “creating 
a water-wise garden”, “water-wise native 
plant garden”, “be water smart inside 
your home” and “be water smart 
outside your home” full-colour 
brochures that are freely available  
to all customers,

•  providing customers with access to 
Wannon Water’s www.savewater.com.au 
website, and

•  Wannon Water also actively promotes 
the state Government Water smart 
Gardens and Homes Rebate scheme.

Water conservation 
programs

 town Address Metered 
Water Use 
(kilolitres)

no. staff Kilolitres per  
staff member

Warrnambool 99 Fairy 
street

748 42 17.8

Warrnambool 241 Koroit 
street

62 16 3.9

Warrnambool Jamieson 
street

50 15 3.3

Portland 15 Milbank 
street

23 6 3.8

Portland 15 townsend 
street

49 7 7.0

Hamilton 66 Gray 
street

55 16 3.4

Wannon Water office water 
consumption 
Wannon Water operates from a number of offices across the region, as follows:

the camperdown complex has been excluded, as it is primarily a works depot.

For more on water conservation programs, 
please see the Drought Response section on 
Pages 40 to 43.

Total 
consumption
2005/06 2006/07

�,020 ��7

Water consumption at Wannon Water offices was  
987 kilolitres (1,020 kilolitres in 2005/06), which equates 
to an average annual usage of 9.7 kilolitres per employee 
at those offices.
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 name of customer Location of 
customer

customer participating in water  
conservation program?

Alcoa Portland Aluminum Pty Ltd Portland yes, water management plan developed and 
being implemented.

Basin Properties Pty Ltd (Iluka 
Resources)

Hamilton yes, water management plan developed and 
being implemented.

Fonterra Australia Limited cobden no, a water management plan is currently  
being developed.

Fonterra Milk Australia Pty Ltd Warrnambool yes, water management plan developed and 
being implemented.

Warrnambool cheese & Butter Allansford no, a water management plan is currently  
being developed.

Midfield Meat International Pty Ltd Warrnambool yes, water management plan developed and 
being implemented.

Murray Goulburn co-operative Koroit yes, water management plan developed and 
being implemented.

Iluka Pty Ltd (Grampians Wool 
Industries)

Hamilton yes, water management plan developed and 
being implemented.

GlaxosmithKline Australia Pty Ltd Port Fairy yes, water management plan developed and 
being implemented.

Dairy Farmers simpson no, not willing to participate at present.

south West Healthcare Warrnambool yes, included in feasibility study and concept 
design for hospital upgrade.

Port of Portland Pty Ltd Portland no, a water management plan is currently  
being developed.

Table 2: Major customers and their participation in water conservation programs

Basin Properties Pty Ltd is a wholly owned subsidiary of Iluka Resources Ltd which operates a mineral sands separation plant  
in Hamilton and receives recycled water and potable reticulated water services from Wannon Water.  the recycled water is 
produced from the additional treatment of treated sewage effluent from the Hamilton Reclamation Plant and is used for mineral 
sands processing. the proportion of potable reticulated water to total water consumption at the plant for 2006/07 is a 
commendably low 18 per cent.
Warrnambool cheese and Butter (Allansford) receives a non-potable water supply.

Case stUdY: saving water at  

                       glaxosmithKline

Comments:  

GlaxoSmithKline in Port Fairy produces a large portion of the world supply of 

methadone.  In recent years GlaxoSmithKline has:

• recycled vacuum pump seal water for belt washing, saving 10,000 litres 

per day;
• eliminated bore water from process, saving 25,000 litres per day; and

• installed waterless urinals.

Other water conservation activities in the planning include the examination of 

storm water harvesting to reduce water consumption, and increasing internal 

water recycling.



Recycling water at Warrnambool Golf Club

Working with local 
government to save 
water
In 2006 the councils in Wannon Water’s 
region committed to developing 
sustainable Water Use Plans with 
assistance from the Department of 
sustainability and environment and 
Wannon Water. the corangamite shire, 
Glenelg shire, Moyne shire, southern 
Grampians shire and Warrnambool  
city council agreed on a common 
consultancy to develop their individual 
plans. In 2007 the councils considered 
proposed water savings targets and 
adopted a key recommendation of the 
plans to work together.

the southwest Municipal Water Use 
committee, facilitated by Wannon Water, 
was formed in 2007 with the aim of 
achieving more efficient water use  
on parks, sporting fields and other 
municipal properties, moving to best 
practice in water use substitution  
and sharing information on water  
savings initiatives. 

Greenhouse Gas 
Emissions
Wannon Water has commenced 
developing a Greenhouse emission 
Action Plan through the Victorian  
water industry Greenhouse emissions 
Reduction Framework. this will outline 
how Wannon Water will manage 
reduction in greenhouse emissions  
over the next five years. to support  
the development of this plan and to 
contribute to industry best practice, 
Wannon Water participated in 
VicWater’s Greenhouse Working Group, 
the sustainability task Group and the 
environment Protection Authority’s 
carbon Innovators network. Wannon 
Water has committed to a 10 per cent 
reduction in emission levels by 2013,  
to be achieved through:

• avoiding greenhouse emissions
• reducing greenhouse emissions
• using renewable energy
• recovering waste energy, and 
•  sequestration and abatement 

schemes.

During 2006/07 the net co
2
 equivalent 

emissions were estimated to be 39,261  
tonnes.

Water recycling
Wannon Water continues to work 
towards maximising the reuse of 
recycled water and achieved 15 per cent 
water recycling for beneficial reuse in 
2006/07. Wannon Water facilitated the 
establishment of a system to provide 
recycled condensate water to the 
Warrnambool Golf club from a local 
industry (see story below). cooperation 
with the community in moving forward 
with recycling will continue. Wannon 
Water also recycles water for irrigation 
on its own land and on privately owned 
and public land.

As part of Wannon Water’s drought 
response, recycled water was held in 
storage for potential potable water 
substitution and for emergency and fire 
purposes at Hamilton and casterton. 
this formed a valuable source of water 
for this purpose; it did, however, limit 
reuse in these areas, as the forecast 
demand for firefighting was not required. 

 
Water from milk has enabled an exciting 
new scheme, providing potable substitution 
and benefiting Warrnambool Golf club’s 
lush fairways.

Under the scheme, water condensate is 
harnessed from the nearby Fonterra dairy 
plant and used to irrigate the 5,700 metres 
of fairways and greens that compose the 
golf course.

Wannon Water helped pioneer this 
Australian first, which captures steam,  
or condensate, given off during the 
process of converting milk to powder  
at Fonterra’s Dennington plant.

the 200 megalitres of water 
produced during the process  
had previously been pumped  
out to sea.

today, though, it is collected and 
diverted to a storage lagoon for use on 

the golf club.

Warrnambool Golf club previously relied 
upon the town’s drinking water supply and 
an increasingly saline bore to keep the 
course well watered.

Warrnambool Golf club secretary 
Manager Garry Parsons said, “80 
megalitres of reuse water is being used via 
this new irrigation scheme, which means a 
huge saving for our city’s water resources 
and we are able to access suitable water 
to keep the course, greens and fairways in 
top condition year-round.”
 

the club’s 620 computer-controlled 
sprinkler heads were switched on for the 
first time on 14 november 2006, marking 
the end of seven years of planning and 
construction.

Wannon Water Re-use coordinator  
Doug Gardner said the project had been 
completed in the nick of time, saving the  
golf course from the impact of yet another 
summer of drought.

“the golf club was delighted, given we 
were faced with another dry summer, and 
the bore would undoubtedly have been so 
salty it would have killed off the grass, 
anyway.”

Doug said the project had attracted strong 
interest, particularly from other golf clubs.

“Reusing the supply in this way is a huge 
saving of potable water, benefiting the club 
and the community,” he said.
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General 
Information

Whistleblowers 
Protection Act
The Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001 
provides protection for “whistleblowers” 
who make disclosures in accordance 
with the Act and establishes a system for 
the matters disclosed to be investigated 
and appropriate action taken. 
Whistleblowers may be members of the 
public or employees.

There were no disclosures under the  
Act in 2006/07. The Protected Disclosure 
Coordinator for 2006/07 was Deidre 
Egan of the Department of Sustainability 
and Environment.

For 2007/08, Wannon Water’s internal 
auditor acts to receive protected 
disclosures under the Act. Disclosures  
of improper conduct by Wannon Water 
or its employees may be made to:

Warwick Spargo
Level 8, Rialto South Tower
525 Collins Street, 
Melbourne, Victoria, 3000
Telephone: (03) 9286 1824
Mobile:  0438 385 132 
Email:  warwick.spargo@rsmi.com.au
Or
Scott Campbell
Level 8, Rialto South Tower
525 Collins Street, 
Melbourne, Victoria, 3000
Telephone: (03) 9286 1828
Mobile:  0409 210 490
Email:  scott.campbell@rsmi.com.au

Freedom of 
information
The Freedom of Information Act 1982 
provides persons with a right of access 
to documents held by Wannon Water, 
subject to certain exemptions.

Wannon Water received two applications 
under the Act in 2006/07. Both 
applications related to business matters 
and neither related to personal privacy. 
Wannon Water granted access in full to 
both requests.
 
Applications for access to information 
under the Freedom of Information Act 1982 
must be made in writing, addressed to:

Freedom of Information Manager
Wannon Water
PO Box 1158
Warrnambool Vic 3280

The request should describe the 
documents to which access is sought  
and include an application fee of $21.50 
(further charges may apply). Fees and 
charges levied under the Freedom of 
Information Act 1982 are not subject  
to GST.

Availability of other 
information
Information relevant to the headings 
listed in Financial Reporting Direction 
22B of the Financial Management Act 1994 
is available on request from any Wannon 
Water office, subject to the provisions of 
the Freedom of Information Act 1982 and 
the Privacy Act.

Wannon Water provides free access to  
a wide range of information on its web 
site, www.wannonwater.com.au.

Building Control 
Act 1993
Wannon Water complied with the 
building and maintenance provisions  
of the Building Control Act 1993.



Financial
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W A n n O n  R E G I O n 
W A T E R  A u T h O R I T y

Operating statement 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2007
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Balance sheet 
as at 30 June 2007
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Statement of changes in equity 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2007
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Cash flow statement 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2007
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Notes to the financial statements 
30 June 2007 

Note 1: Summary of significant accounting policies
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Note 1 continued: Summary of significant accounting policies



Wannon Water Financial Statements 2006/07    57    

Note 1 continued: Summary of significant accounting policies
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Note 1 continued: Summary of significant accounting policies
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Note 1 continued: Summary of significant accounting policies
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Note 2: Financial risk management
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Note 3: Operating statement - disclosures
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Note 3 continued: Operating statement - disclosures
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Note 4: Income tax
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Note 5: Cash and cash equivalents

Note 6: Receivables

Note 7: Inventories

Note 8: Other assets
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Note 9: Property, plant and equipment
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Note 10: Intangibles

Note 11: Payables

Note 12: Interest bearing liabilities
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Note 13: Provisions
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Note 14: Financial instruments
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Note 15: Responsible persons related party disclosure
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Note 16: Remuneration of auditors

Note 17: Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Note 18: Commitments

Note 19: Superannuation
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Note 20: Segment information

Note 19 continued: Superannuation
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Note 21: Operating results of retail services

Note 22: Events occurring after reporting date

Note 20 continued: Segment information
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Note 23: Reconciliation of net results for the reporting period 
to net cash inflow from operating activities

Note 24. Recognition of contributed capital on formation

The Minister for Water approved the merger of predecessor water authorities South West Water Authority, Portland Coast Water Authority

and Glenelg Region Water Authority to form Wannon Region Water Authority as at 1 July 2005. The commencing assets and liabilities of

Wannon Water are detailed as follows.

ASSETS 2006

$'000

 Current Assets

     Cash assets 2,911

     Receivables 5,204

     Inventories 331

     Other financial assets 12,224

     Other 3,675

Total Current Assets 24,345

 Non-Current Assets

     Receivables 684

     Property, plant and equipment 450,048

     Intangibles 238

Total Non-Current Assets 450,970

TOTAL ASSETS 475,315

 LIABILITIES

 Current Liabilities

     Payables 2,789

     Interest bearing liabilities 2,716

     Provisions 792

Total Current Liabilities 6,297

 Non-Current Liabilities

     Interest bearing liabilities 15,507

     Provisions 1,224

Total Non-Current Liabilities 16,731

TOTAL LIABILITIES 23,028

 NET ASSETS 452,287

 Equity

     Contributed capital 452,287

 EQUITY 452,287

Note 25. Ex Gratia Payments
2007 2006

$'000 $'000

The authority has made the following ex gratia payments during the period:

     Ex gratia payments 12 32

These ex-gratia payments related to settlement of minor individual claims.

Wannon Region Water Authority
Notes to the financial statements

30 June 2007

Page 24

Note 24: Recognition of contributed capital on formation

Note 25: Ex gratia payments
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Wannon Region Water Authority: Statutory Certification

10
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Wannon Region Water Authority: Auditor-General’s Report
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Wannon Region Water Authority: Auditor-General’s Report 
continued
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Financial Performance Indicators
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Service Performance Indicators
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Sewage Treatment
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Environmental Performance Indicators



82    Wannon Water Performance Reporting 2006/07

Environmental Performance Indicators continued
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Certification

10
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Wannon Region Water Authority: Auditor-General’s Report

84
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Wannon Region Water Authority: Auditor-General’s Report 
continued

84A
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Appendix 1

Notes on Bulk Entitlements:

Report in relation to Section 12.1 of the Bulk Entitlement (Otway System) Conversion Order 1998

 (a)  The flow to irrigators managed by Southern Rural Water is not available.  The north 
and South Otway system inflows were, therefore, not able to be calculated.  Flow share 
arrangements were based on providing the specified passing flow.

 (b) The flows past specified points A and B are monitored at gauging sites 235225B and 235228A
 (c)  Mean daily passing flows at the two sites are available.  Flow tables for these sites are only 

rated up to 100 ML/day.
 (d) The daily amount of water taken at each diversion point is available.
 (e)  Water was not taken from any point other than a system diversion point.  no record can be 

located of approval being granted to either the proposed environmental obligations program 
or the proposed metering program. 

 (f) The annual amount of water taken under the entitlement was 10,129 ML
 (g) There was no temporary or permanent transfer of this entitlement
 (h)  There was no transfer of any entitlement to Wannon Water with respect to the Otway Water 

Supply System
 (i) There were no amendments to this bulk entitlement.
 (j)  There were no new bulk entitlements granted to Wannon Water with respect to the Otway 

System   
 (k) Wannon Water complied with the provisions of the bulk entitlement.
 (l)  The meters used to calculate the amount taken under the bulk entitlement were not verified 

or calibrated.

Report in relation to Section 12.1 of the Bulk Entitlement (hamilton) Conversion Order 1997

 (a)  The flows in each waterway immediately upstream of the system diversion point have not 
been monitored and works under clause 16 to ensure that only water to which Wannon 
Water is entitled is taken have not been implemented

 (b) The specified passing flow has not been provided.  
 (c)  The daily amount of water taken has not been recorded.  The present metering arrangement 

provides for a seven-day continuous recording of flows.  
 (d)  Wannon Water is unaware of any programs or proposals under clauses 9, 10 and 11. The 

Department of Sustainability and Environment (DSE) has been unable to provide details of any 
programs submitted by Glenelg Water.

 (e) The annual amount taken under this Bulk Entitlement was 924ML
 (f) The amount in credit to the drought reserve is the maximum allowable of 520ML
 (g) There was no transfer of any part of this Bulk Entitlement
 (h)  There were no transfers of other Bulk Entitlements or licences to Wannon Water with 

respect to this system.
 (i) There was no amendment to this Bulk Entitlement.
 (j) There were no new Bulk Entitlements granted to Wannon Water with respect to this system.
 (k)  Specified passing flows have not been provided.  The metering arrangement does not readily 

provide for recording of the daily amount of water taken under this Bulk Entitlement.
 (l)  A project has been identified in the next Water Plan to undertake works to provide specified 

passing flows and improve metering.
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Appendix 1 continued

Report in relation to Section 13.1 of the Bulk Entitlement (Dunkeld System) Conversion Order 1997

 (a)  no water was taken from the system diversion point.  The daily amount of water taken from 
the system storage under this Bulk Entitlement is not available.  

 (b)  The water level and the amount of water in storage is measured weekly.  As of 26 June 2007 it 
was 208.8 metres AhD and 3.6 ML.

 (c) The annual amount taken from the system storage was 23ML.
 (d)  Wannon Water is unaware of any programs or proposals under clauses 10, 11 and 12. DSE has 

been unable to provide details of any programs submitted by Glenelg Water in respect of this 
Bulk Entitlement.

 (e) There were no transfers of this Bulk Entitlement
 (f)  There was no transfer of other Bulk Entitlements or licences to Wannon Water with respect 

to this system.
 (g) There was no amendment to this Bulk Entitlement
 (h) There were no new bulk entitlements granted to Wannon Water with respect to this system.
 (i)  The daily amount of water taken from the system diversion point and the system storage is 

not available.
 (j)  A project has been identified in the next Water Plan to improve metering of water taken from 

the system diversion point and the system storage.  Weekly data is available.

Report in relation to Section 13.1 of the Bulk Entitlement (Glenthompson) Conversion Order 1997

 (a)  The daily amount of water taken under this Bulk Entitlement is not available.  Only weekly data 
is available. A volume of 14.3ML of water purchased from Grampians Wimmera Mallee Water 
was inputted to this system’s storage to supply the annual demand for Glenthompson township 
of 12.1ML. 

 (b)  The water level and amount of water in storage is measured weekly.  As at 26 June 2007 
the level in Glenthompson Reservoir was 306.4 metres and the contents were 25.3ML.  The 
Railway Reservoir was empty throughout the year.

 (c) The annual amount taken under this Bulk Entitlement was 0ML.  
 (d)  Wannon Water is unaware of any programs or proposals under clauses 10, 11 and 12. DSE has 

been unable to provide details of any programs submitted by Glenelg Water in respect of this 
Bulk Entitlement.

 (e) There were no transfers of this Bulk Entitlement.
 (f)  There was no transfer of other Bulk Entitlements or licences to Wannon Water with respect 

to this system.
 (g) There was no amendment to this Bulk Entitlement.
 (h) There were no new bulk entitlements granted to Wannon Water with respect to this system.
 (i)  The metering arrangement does not readily provide for recording the daily amount of water 

taken under this Bulk Entitlement.  Wannon Water is unaware of any approved metering or 
environmental programs in relation to this Bulk Entitlement.

 (j)  A budget has been identified in the next water plan to improve metering of water taken from 
the system storages.  Weekly data is available.



88    Wannon Water Appendices 2006/07

Appendix 1 continued

Report in relation to Section 13.1 of the Bulk Entitlement (Coleraine, Casterton and Sandford) Conversion 
Order 1997

 (a)  The daily amount of water taken under this Bulk Entitlement is not available.  Only weekly data 
is available.  Casterton and Sandford are not supplied from this Bulk Entitlement.

 (b)  The water level and amount of water in storage is measured weekly.  As at 26 June 2007 the 
level was 272.4 metres (AhD) and the contents 547.3ML

 (c)  The annual amount taken under this Bulk Entitlement was 148ML, this being the volume of 
water used by Coleraine.

 (d)  Wannon Water is unaware of any programs or proposals under clauses 10, 11 and 12. DSE has 
been unable to provide details of any programs submitted by Glenelg Water in respect of this 
Bulk Entitlement.

 (e) There were no transfers of this Bulk Entitlement.
 (f)  There were no transfers of other Bulk Entitlements or licences to Wannon Water with respect 

to this system.
 (g) There was no amendment to this Bulk Entitlement
 (h) There were no new bulk entitlements granted to Wannon Water with respect to this system.
 (i)  The metering arrangement does not readily provide for recording of the daily amount of water 

taken under this Bulk Entitlement.  Wannon Water is unaware of any approved metering or 
environmental programs in relation to this Bulk Entitlement 

 (j)  A budget has been identified in the next Water Plan to improve metering of water taken from 
the system storage.  Weekly data is available.

Report in relation to Section 17.1 of the Bulk Entitlement (Wimmera and Glenelg Rivers – Glenelg Water) 
Conversion Order 2004 and the Bulk Entitlement (Wimmera and Glenelg Rivers – Glenelg Water) Conversion 
Amendment Order 2005

 (a)  The daily amount of water taken under this Bulk Entitlement is not available.  Only weekly data 
is available.  The present metering arrangement does not provide for the logging of daily data.  

 (b) The annual amount taken under this Bulk Entitlement was 95ML
 (c) no water was taken from any other works of Wannon Water for this system.  
 (d) The seasonal allocation was 85ML
 (e) Wannon Water is unaware of any programs or proposals under clauses 10, 11 and 12. 
 (f) There were no changes made under Schedule 2
 (g) There were no transfers of this Bulk Entitlement.
 (h)  Grampians Wimmera Mallee Water provided additional water from its drought reserve to 

supply water in excess of the seasonal allocation. 
 (i) There was no amendment to this Bulk Entitlement in relation to the supply to Balmoral.
 (j) There were no new Bulk Entitlements granted to Wannon Water with respect to this system.
 (k)  The metering arrangement does not readily provide for recording the daily amount of water 

taken under this Bulk Entitlement. There are no approved metering or environmental programs 
in relation to this Bulk Entitlement.

 (l)  A budget has been identified in the next Water Plan to improve metering of water taken from 
the system storage.  Weekly data is available.
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Appendix 2

Otway Supply System

The Dilwyn Aquifer (West)

The Dilwyn Aquifer (East)

Actual Annual Consumption Tables
Expressed in megalitres (ML) and number of assessments (no.)
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Appendix 2 continued

The Grampians System

The Tullich Bore System

Other Water Supplies (*supplied from the Rocklands Reservoir)

Supply Systems Total
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Disclosure index

The 2006/07 annual report of the Wannon Region Water Authority is 
prepared in accordance with all relevant Victorian legislation. This index 
has been prepared to facilitate identification of the Authority’s compliance 
with statutory disclosure requirements.

FRD Disclosure Page

22B Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers 6

22B Objectives, functions, powers and duties 6,9

22B nature and range of services provided  6,10

22B Organisational structure, names and functional areas of responsibility of senior officers 10

22B names of board members, major committees - objectives and achievements 8-9

22B Statement of workforce data for current and previous financial year  28-30

22B Merit and equity  28

15B Executive officer disclosures 69

22B 5-year summary of the financial results (note: a 5-year summary of the financial results 

 is not provided as Wannon Water has only been in existence for two years) 13

22B Significant changes in financial position during the year 13

22B Objectives and performance against objectives 4-5

22B Major changes or factors affecting performance 13

22B Subsequent events which will affect operations in future years 12

22B Details of consultancies > $100,000 and total no. and cost < $100,000 13

12A Disclosure of major contracts 13

22B Application and operation of the Freedom of Information Act 1982 49

22B Application and operation of the Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001 49

22B Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of the Building Act 1993 49

22B Statement on national Competition Policy 12

22B Occupational health and Safety  30

10 Disclosure index 91

22B Statement of availability of other information 49
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Disclosure index continued

Financial statements required under Part 7 of the FMA

Clause Disclosure Page

SD 4.2 (f) Model Financial Report 50-76

SD 4.2 (b) Operating Statement 51

SD 4.2 (b) Balance Sheet 52

SD 4.2 (a) Statement of Recognised Income and Expense 53

SD 4.2 (b) Cash flow Statement 54

SD 4.2 (c) Accountable officer’s declaration 74

SD 4.2 (c) Compliance with Australian accounting standards and other authoritative pronouncements 55

SD 4.2 (c) Compliance with Ministerial Directions 55

SD 4.2 (d) Round of Amounts 55

Other disclosures in notes to the financial statements

FRD Disclosure Page

9A Departmental disclosure of administered assets and liabilities (voluntary disclosure) n/A

11 Disclosure of ex-gratia payments 73

21A Responsible person and executive officer disclosures 69
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